

# Third Edition Climate, Community & Biodiversity Standards



## About the CCBA

The Climate, Community & Biodiversity Alliance (CCBA) is a partnership of five international nongovernmental organizations: Conservation International, CARE, Rainforest Alliance, The Nature Conservancy and Wildlife Conservation Society (see <u>http://www.climate-standards.org/</u>). The CCBA's mission is to stimulate and promote land management activities that credibly mitigate global climate change, improve the wellbeing and reduce the poverty of local communities, and conserve biodiversity.

The CCBA has two initiatives:

- The Climate, Community & Biodiversity (CCB) Standards were launched in 2005 to foster development of, and investment in, site-based projects that deliver credible and significant climate, community and biodiversity benefits in an integrated, sustainable manner.
- The REDD+ Social & Environmental Standards (REDD+ SES) were launched in 2010 to build support for government-led REDD+ programs that make a significant contribution to human rights, poverty alleviation and biodiversity conservation. The development of REDD+ SES was jointly facilitated by CARE and CCBA.

Both the CCB Standards and the REDD+ SES focus not just on ensuring 'no harm' but also aim to enhance multiple benefits.

## **Acknowledgements**<sup>1</sup>

The Third Edition of the CCB Standards has been developed through a transparent and inclusive participatory process involving diverse stakeholders facilitated by Priti Narasimhan and Joanna Durbin with support from Gareth Wishart of the CCBA secretariat. Significant inputs and oversight were provided by a Standards Committee composed of: Jenny Henman (Plant your Future), Jeremy Freund (Wildlife Works Carbon LLC), Christian Dannecker (South Pole Carbon Asset Management Ltd), Sarah M. Walker (Winrock International), Rebecca Dickson (TerraCarbon LLC), Kanyinke Sena (Indigenous Peoples of Africa Coordination Committee), Juan Carlos Jintiach (Indigenous Organizations of the Amazon basin-COICA), Nigel Hughes (Green Light trust), Ambrosius Ruwidrijanto (Telapak), Johannes Ebeling (BioCarbon Macquarie Global Investments), Brian McFarland (Carbonfund.org Foundation), David Lloyd (Carbon Neutral Company), Helen Crowley (Kering), Edit Kiss (Eneco), Henry Neufeldt (World Agroforestry Center), Bastiaan Louman (CATIE), Pam Jagger (CIFOR), Seth Shames (Ecoagriculture Partners), Yaw Kwakye (Forestry Commission, Ghana), Felix Ya Mbumba (Ministry of Environment, Conservation of Nature and Tourism, Democratic Republic of Congo), Jane Dunlop (Fauna and Flora International), Charlie Parker (WWF), Sebastian Hetsch (TUV SUD Industrie Service GmbH), Christie Pollet-Young (SCS Global Services), Carolyn Ching (VCS Association), Nicole Virgilio (The Nature Conservancy), Jeffrey Hayward (Rainforest Alliance) and Tom Evans (Wildlife Conservation Society).

The development of the CCB Standards Third Edition benefited from suggestions from many people including: Agustin Silvani, Natasha Calderwood, Romas Garbaliauskas, Yoji Natori, Kana Yamasita and Camila Donatti (Conservation International); Yuliya Neyman, Daniel Aun and Paul Friedland (White & Case LLP); Lini Wollenberg and Jean Lee (Climate Change in Agriculture and Food Security(CCAFS)); Mike Korchinsky (Wildlife Works Carbon LLC); Leslie Durschinger (Terra Global Capital); Zubair Zakir (the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Affiliations are only for reference and may have changed since their contribution to the CCB Standards.

Carbon Neutral Company); William Pazos (Standard Bank Plc); Kevin Whitfield (Nedbank Capital); Brer Adams (Macquarie Group); Ellysar Baroudy (World Bank); Christian del Valle (Althelia Climate Fund); Duncan Pollard (Nestlé); Jason Green (Armajaro); Antonio Valleneto (Bunge); Jim Heyes (Global Environment Fund); Ruth Nussbaum (ProForest); Arsema Andargachew, Hulemanye Assefa and Lulu Likassa Nefabas (Bale Ecosystem Restoration and Management Project); Geoffrey Onyango (CARE); Caroline Musee and Emmanuel Wachiye (Sustainable Agriculture in a Changing Climate project); Martin Yelibora (Ghana Cocoa Project); Atsu Titiati and Victor Mombu (Rainforest Alliance); Seretse Sebuh Kidanemariam (Government of Ethiopia); Tesfaye Gonfa (Oromia Forest and Wildlife Enterprise); Demess Lemma and Kebede Regassa (Humbo Project); John Mason and Deepali Gohil (Nature Conservation Research Centre); Christy Magerkurth (The Field Museum); Linda Rohnstock (OroVerde -The Tropical Forest Foundation); Henrietta Boyd (Permian Global); Julianne Baroody (School of Environmental and Forest Science, University of Washington); VG Reddy; Carrie Gombos (The Conservation Fund); Campbell Moore (Rainforest Alliance); Galia Selaya (Independent Consultant); Amanda Bradley (Terra Carbon LLC); Vasco van Roosmalen (Surui Carbon Project); Dennis Bours (PACT Inc); Kazuhiro Goseki (Japan International Cooperation Agency).

We would like to thank all the people who have contributed to the development of the CCB Standards from 2003, in particular those closely involved in developing the First and Second Editions. The authors of the First Edition of the CCB Standards were John O. Niles and Toby Janson-Smith (CCBA); Cathleen Kelly, Jenny Henman and Bill Stanley (The Nature Conservancy); Louis Verchot (ICRAF); Bruno Locatelli (CIRAD-CATIE); Daniel Murdiyarso (CIFOR); Michael Dutschke and Axel Michaelowa (Hamburg Institute of International Economics); Agus Sari and Olivia Tanujaya (Pelangi); Michael Totten and Sonal Pandya (Conservation International); Sam Stier; and Carina Romero. The Second Edition of the CCB Standards was developed by a Standards Committee composed of: Charles Ehrhart (CARE International); Lucio Pedroni and Zenia Salinas (CATIE); Joanna Durbin and Steven Panfil (CCBA); Louis Verchot (CIFOR); Bruno Locatelli (CIRAD-CIFOR); Toby Janson-Smith (Conservation International); Jan Fehse (EcoSecurities); Joachim Sell (First Climate); Diana Suarez Barbosa (Gaia Amazonas); Kanyinke Sena (Indigenous Peoples of Africa Coordinating Committee); Jeffrey Hayward (Rainforest Alliance); Jenny Henman and Michael Parsons (Sustainable Forestry Management); David Shoch (The Nature Conservancy); Martin Schroeder (TUV SUD); Gabe Petlin (3 Degrees); Linda Krueger (Wildlife Conservation Society); Sarah Walker (Winrock International); and Steve Ruddell (WWF).

## This document should be cited as:

CCBA. 2013. Climate, Community & Biodiversity Standards Third Edition. CCBA, Arlington, VA, USA. December, 2013. At: <u>www.climate-standards.org</u>

## **Photo Credits:**

Left: ©Olivier Langrand Center: ©Conservation International/photo by Bailey Evans Right: ©Conservation International/photo by Haroldo Palo Jr.

## Development and uptake of the CCB Standards

**The First Edition of the CCB Standards** was released in May 2005 after a rigorous two-year development process based on input from community and environmental groups, companies, academics, project developers and others with expert knowledge or affected by the standards. Prior to their release, the Standards were tested on projects in Asia, Africa, Europe and the Americas and peer reviewed by the world's leading tropical forestry institutes: the Center for International Forestry Research (CIFOR) in Indonesia, the Tropical Agricultural Research and Higher Education Center (CATIE) in Costa Rica and the World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF) in Kenya.

The Second Edition of the CCB Standards was released in December 2008. The standards were revised to respond to the evolving context for land-based carbon based on feedback from a wide range of users of the standards such as project developers, representatives of local communities and indigenous peoples, investors, offset buyers, non-governmental organizations and government agencies. The revision process included two public comment periods of 60-days and 30-days respectively and was overseen by a multi-stakeholder Standards Committee.

Uptake of the CCB Standards: There has been significant uptake of the CCB Standards with a total of 78 projects having completed the validation process and 15 projects having achieved verification by November 2013. More than 130 projects are using or planning to use the standards, representing over 11 million hectares (ha) of conservation and over 480,000 ha of restoration of native forests with total estimated annual greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions reductions of over 30 million tons annually. There has been broad uptake across geographic areas (Africa (28%), Asia (16%), Latin America (43%), USA and Canada (8%)) and project types (Afforestation, Reforestation, Revegetation (ARR) (52%), Improved Forest Management (IFM) (13%), Reduced Emissions from Deforestation or Forest Degradation (REDD) (34%), etc.) which is a testament to the utility of the CCB Standards. The preponderance of projects in tropical developing countries (89%), and particularly in Africa (32%), where there have been relatively few projects registered under the Clean Development Mechanism, suggests that the CCB Standards are playing a role to stimulate project and market development to channel carbon market investments to areas where funding is most greatly needed for sustainable development, improved livelihoods and biodiversity conservation. Several investors and offset buyers have declared their intention to give a preference to, give a premium to, or exclusively purchase land-based carbon offsets derived from CCB projects, because of the importance they give to use of good social and environmental practices and the delivery of multiple benefits.<sup>2</sup> Credits from projects also using multiple-benefits standards have been shown to attract higher prices. VCS projects also certified to CCB Standards saw an additional average \$0.5/tCO2e, trading at an average of \$9.1/tCO2e compared with \$8.5/tCO2e for credits only using VCS.<sup>3</sup>

**The Third Edition of the CCB Standards** was released in December 2013 concurrently with a revised version of the Rules for the Use of the CCB Standards (December 2013). The CCBA launched a revision of the CCB Standards and Rules in 2012 with the following objectives:

- to incorporate substantial feedback received from current users and others to ensure that the CCB Standards remain robust, practical and continue to meet the demands of the users, and also
- to facilitate the access of smallholder and community-led projects to carbon finance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Forest Carbon Offsetting Report 2010. Ecosecurities. Page 28. See also CODE REDD Code of Conduct <u>http://www.coderedd.org/about-code-redd/code-of-conduct/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> State of the Forest Carbon Markets Report 2012. Ecosystem Marketplace. Page 32.

The second objective seeks to support smallholder- and community-led projects which have significant potential to provide multiple climate and development benefits but face a series of challenges. CCB Standards are in a unique position to reduce the barriers for these kinds of projects through modifications to help showcase the special qualities and multiple benefits of smallholder- and community led-projects.

The terms of reference for the revision of the CCB Standards to develop the Third Edition were published in November 2012, followed by the creation of a multi-stakeholder Standards Committee to oversee the revision.<sup>4</sup> The CCBA has undertaken a range of research and consultations to seek input for the revision, including case studies and a workshop with smallholder- and community-led projects in Addis Ababa in October 2012, and a survey of current CCB Standards users in January 2012.<sup>5</sup> Two draft versions of the CCB Standards Third Edition were posted on www.climate-standards.org for public comments for 60 days from 22<sup>nd</sup> March to 21<sup>st</sup> May, 2013 and from 31<sup>st</sup> July 2013 to 29 September 2013. A draft revised Rules for the Use of the CCB Standards (Rules) was also prepared by the CCBA with substantial input from the CCB Standards Committee and comments were invited from members of the public over a 60-day period from 31<sup>st</sup> July 2013 to 29<sup>th</sup> September 2013. All comments received were evaluated and a written synopsis has been published of how each material issue has been addressed in the Standards and the Rules.<sup>6</sup>

The main changes in the Third Edition are:

- In order to reduce repetition and redundancy and to increase the ease of use of the standards, the criteria have been reorganized to group all relevant criteria into the Climate, Community and Biodiversity sections, including the corresponding Gold Level criteria (one in each section).
- The General section has been reorganized to give greater emphasis to stakeholder engagement in a dedicated criterion.
- Gender is also given greater attention by explicitly requiring women, or sub-groups of women, to be identified as a Community Group that must benefit from the project where they derive different income, livelihood and cultural values from the project area from other community members, and also by adding an indicator in the Community Gold Level that requires projects to explicitly outline impacts on women.
- The Climate section of the Standards is waived for projects using a recognized Greenhouse Gas Program. Procedures and the criteria and process for deeming programs as 'recognized' are defined in the 'Rules for the Use of the CCB Standards' that has also been revised in 2013. The Climate section in the Standards is only to be used to demonstrate a project's net positive climate benefits and not for claiming GHG emissions reductions and removals units that may be used as offsets.
- The Third Edition also enables projects to use programmatic approaches that allow the expansion of project activities to new land areas subsequent to project validation. This helps to reduce transaction costs, especially for smallholder-led projects that need to aggregate smallholder land parcels at scale, but are likely to start small and expand over time.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See <u>http://www.climate-standards.org/ccb-standards/ccb-standards-revision/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See http://www.climate-standards.org/ccb-standards/ccb-standards-for-smallholders-initiative/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See <u>http://www.climate-standards.org/ccb-standards/history-of-the-standards/</u>

- In order to clarify, strengthen and address gaps in existing indicators, modifications have been made and additional indicators included throughout the standards.
- The Gold Level criteria have been made more stringent, thus setting a higher bar for projects to achieve the Gold Level. In addition, the Community Gold Level criterion has been modified to identify smallholder- and community-led projects that deliver equitable benefits, in order to assist with showcasing these exceptional projects.
- Finally, this Edition also provides enhanced transparency to assist with differentiation between the multiple benefit qualities of different projects by including a requirement in the Rules for the Use of the CCB Standards for a cover page that summarizes climate, community & biodiversity benefits.

## **Table of Contents**

About the CCBA	1
Acknowledgements	1
Development and uptake of the CCB Standards	3
Justification for the CCB Standards	7
The Role of the CCB Standards	8
REDD+ Social & Environmental Standards (REDD+ SES) and CCB Standards	. 10
Validation and Verification using the CCB Standards	.11
CCB Standards Third Edition Checklist	.13
GENERAL SECTION	14
G1. Project Goals, Design and Long-term Viability	18
G2. Without-project Land Use Scenario and Additionality	. 18
G3. Stakeholder Engagement	. 19
G4. Management Capacity	23
G5. Legal Status and Property Rights	24
CLIMATE SECTION	28
CL1. Without-Project Climate Scenario	. 28
CL2. Net Positive Climate Impacts	28
CL3. Offsite Climate Impacts ('Leakage')	30
CL4. Climate Impact Monitoring	31
GL1. Climate Change Adaptation Benefits	32
COMMUNITY SECTION	34
CM1. Without-Project Community Scenario	34
CM2. Net Positive Community Impacts	35
CM3. Other Stakeholder Impacts	36
CM 4. Community Impact Monitoring	37
GL2. Exceptional Community Benefits	38
BIODIVERSITY SECTION	40
B1. Biodiversity Without–project Scenario	40
B2. Net Positive Biodiversity Impacts	42
B3. Offsite Biodiversity Impacts	44
B4. Biodiversity Impact Monitoring	45
GL3. Exceptional Biodiversity Benefits	46
Glossary	48

## Justification for the CCB Standards

The Climate, Community & Biodiversity (CCB) Standards were created to foster the development and marketing of projects that deliver credible and significant climate, community and biodiversity benefits in an integrated, sustainable manner. Projects that meet the Standards adopt best practices to deliver net positive benefits for climate change mitigation, for local communities and for biodiversity.

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's Fourth Assessment Report<sup>7</sup> documents the dramatic effects of human-induced climate change on ecosystems, productivity and the global economy. These impacts, which are expected to worsen in the coming decades, will fall disproportionately on the world's most vulnerable people and ecosystems. Vulnerable communities often rely on natural resources but lack the reserves and capacity to cope with changes in their environment. Meanwhile, the ongoing losses of biological diversity threaten the ecosystems upon which all life depends.

Land use change is a major part of humans' impact on the world's climate. Greenhouse gas emissions from deforestation, agriculture and other land use conversion activities are responsible for 32% of total human emissions.<sup>8</sup> Population growth and economic development—and the inability of institutions to ensure adequate governance and safeguards—are the primary drivers of these significant and widespread impacts.

Well designed land-based climate change mitigation activities are therefore an essential component of climate change mitigation. Reducing deforestation and forest degradation can help reduce greenhouse gas emissions, while reforestation and agroforestry activities can remove carbon dioxide from the atmosphere. When sensitively designed, these projects also protect biodiversity and promote the sustainable economic and social development of communities. Such projects can bring sustainable livelihoods to local people through the diversification of agriculture, soil and water protection, direct employment, the use and sale of forest products and ecotourism. In the process, communities can also build their capacity to adapt to the effects of climate change. Well-designed projects also contribute to biodiversity conservation by restoring and protecting the world's natural ecosystems, saving threatened animal and plant species from extinction and maintaining resilient and productive natural life-support for humankind. Through effective planning and implementation, all of these positive outcomes can be achieved cost-effectively.

The CCB Standards are beneficial to a variety of users, including:

1) Project Developers and Local Communities – Communities, NGOs, agencies and others use the CCB Standards to guide the development of projects that deliver a suite of environmental and community benefits. Ensuring effective stakeholder engagement, good governance and holistic design to address social and environmental risks and opportunities helps to build a more sustainable project that can achieve multiple objectives. From an early stage, the Standards can be used to demonstrate a project's high quality and multiple benefits of their project to potential investors and other stakeholders. Projects that meet the CCB Standards are likely to garner preferential investment and even a price premium from investors or offset buyers who

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Fourth Assessment Report. http://www.ipcc.ch/publications and data/ar4/syr/en/contents.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CGIAR Research program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security, <u>http://ccafs.cgiar.org/bigfacts/global-agriculture-emissions/</u>

support multiple-value projects and best-practice projects. Multiple-benefit projects also are more likely to attract a diverse portfolio of investors.

2) Project Investors and Offset Buyers – Private companies, multilateral agencies and other funders investing in carbon projects or sourcing carbon credits can use the CCB Standards for project screening. The Standards identify projects that actively address environmental and social performance factors, thereby lowering the risks to effective project implementation and permanence of the climate benefits that are posed by environmental degradation and resistance from local communities and governments. In this way, the Standards help investors and offset buyers to minimize risks by identifying high-quality projects that are unlikely to become implicated in controversy. Multiple-benefit projects also create valuable goodwill and other ancillary returns for investors. Social and environmental benefits and sustainability are also an important means to reduce risks to the permanence of the climate benefits.

*3) Governments* – Governments can use the CCB Standards to ensure that projects within their boundaries contribute to their sustainable development goals. Also, donor governments can use the Standards to identify Official Development Assistance (ODA) projects that efficiently satisfy multiple international obligations, such as the Millennium Development Goals and the UN conventions on Climate Change and Biological Diversity.

## The Role of the CCB Standards

The CCB Standards identify land management projects that deliver net positive benefits for climate change mitigation, for local communities and for biodiversity. The Standards can be applied to any land management project, including projects that reduce greenhouse gas emissions from deforestation and forest degradation or from avoided degradation of other ecosystems, and projects that remove carbon dioxide by sequestering carbon (e.g., reforestation, afforestation, revegetation, forest restoration, agroforestry and sustainable agriculture) or other land management projects. The CCB Standards are important for all phases of project planning and management, from design through implementation and monitoring.

The CCB Standards perform two important roles:

- Project design standard: The CCB Standards provide rules and guidance to encourage effective and integrated project design. The Standards can be applied early on during a project's design phase to validate projects that have been well designed, are suitable to local conditions and are likely to achieve significant climate, community and biodiversity benefits. This validation helps to build support for the project at a crucial stage and attract funding or other assistance from key stakeholders, including investors, governments and other important local, national and international partners. This early project support and funding can be particularly important for multiple-benefit land-based carbon projects, which often require considerable investment and effort for project development before greenhouse gas emissions reductions can be generated.
- Multiple-benefit standard: The CCB Standards can be applied throughout the project's life to verify the adoption of best practices and the delivery of social and environmental benefits of a land-based carbon project. The Standards can be combined very effectively with a carbon accounting standard such as, for example, the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) or the Verified Carbon Standard (VCS). In this case, the CCB Standards provide a basis for evaluating a project's social and

environmental impacts while the carbon accounting standard enables verification and registration of quantified greenhouse gas emissions reductions or removals. In this way, the CCB Standards verify the social and environmental benefits generated by a project, enabling investors to select carbon credits with additional benefits, while screening out projects with unacceptable social and environmental impacts.

The CCB Standards can be used regardless of a project's geographical location, start date, or size. The Standards can be used for projects funded with either private or public investment, and they apply to projects that generate carbon credits for either compliance or voluntary markets. It is important to note that the CCBA does not issue quantified emissions reductions certificates and therefore encourages the use of a carbon accounting standard (such as CDM or VCS) in combination with CCB Standards.

## **Reflection of UNFCCC safeguards for REDD+ in CCB Standards**

In 2010 in Cancun, Mexico, parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) agreed on seven safeguards for the implementation of activities that reduce emissions from deforestation and forest degradation and contribute to conservation, sustainable management of forests and enhancement of forest carbon stocks (REDD+).<sup>9</sup> These safeguards address transparency, participation of stakeholders, protection of biodiversity and ecosystem services, and respect for rights of indigenous and local communities.

The CCB Standards are aligned with and help projects to demonstrate that they meet the UNFCCC REDD+ safeguards in all respects except the safeguard (b) relating to national forest governance structures, which is not applicable to CCB Standards given that it applies to the project level. The table below illustrates the relationship with Cancun safeguards.

## **UNFCCC REDD+ safeguards**

When undertaking [REDD+] activities, the following safeguards should be promoted and supported:

- a) Actions complement or are consistent with the objectives of national forest programmes and relevant international conventions and agreements;
- b) Transparent and effective national forest governance structures, taking into account national legislation and sovereignty;
- c) Respect for the knowledge and rights of indigenous peoples and members of local communities, by taking into account relevant international obligations, national circumstances and laws and noting that the United Nations General Assembly as adopted the United National Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples;
- d) The full and effective participation of relevant stakeholders, in particular indigenous peoples and local communities;
- e) Actions are consistent with the conservation of natural forests and biological diversity, ensuring that REDD+ activities are not used for the conversion of natural forests, but are instead used to incentivize the protection and conservation of natural forests and their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> UNFCCC Decision 1/CP.16 appendix 1

ecosystem services, and to enhance other social and environmental benefits;

- f) Actions to address the risks of reversals;
- g) Actions to reduce displacement of emissions.

6/ / 1001	6, ·········						
UNFCCC safeguards	а	b	С	d	е	f	g
CCB Standards Third Edition	G5.6 partly (requires compliance only with national and local laws)	not applicable	G5.1-3	G3.1-6, G5.2-3	B1-4, CM1-4	G1.10-11	CL3, CM3, B3

## **REDD+ Social & Environmental Standards (REDD+ SES) and CCB Standards**

REDD+ SES provide principles, criteria and indicators and also a country-led, multi-stakeholder process to support the development and implementation of a safeguards information system for a government-led REDD+ program (see <u>www-redd-standards.org</u>). The issues covered by the REDD+ SES and the CCB Standards are very similar but both standards were developed through separate multi-stakeholder processes and are differently structured and organized.

REDD+ SES differs from the CCB Standards in that it is designed to be used by national or sub-national jurisdictional (e.g. State, Provincial, County) programs of policies and measures for REDD+ rather than site-based projects. For example, REDD+ SES includes indicators about the contribution of the REDD+ program to good governance, broader sustainable development and social justice at the national or jurisdictional level and also to biodiversity and ecosystem priorities defined at the national jurisdictional level. Whereas the CCB Standards focus more on respect for rights and generation of benefits for specific communities affected by the project, and for the impacts on biodiversity affected by the project.

The REDD+ SES indicators are adapted to the country context following a transparent and inclusive multi-stakeholder process defined in the Guidelines for the Use of the REDD+ SES at Country Level. The main way of ensuring the quality and credibility of the self assessment against the country-specific REDD+ SES indicators is through stakeholder review and a transparent process. This approach enables country leadership in the definition of country-specific safeguards and performance assessment based on the REDD+ SES international norms for high performance. In contrast, the same CCB Standards indicators are used for all projects around the world, and projects achieve validation and verification to the CCB Standards through an independent audit of their project design documentation and project implementation reports against the global standards following the process defined in the Rules for the Use of the CCB Standards.

The CCB Standards are used to provide project-level quality assurance, including for projects implemented through a program of activities or using a programmatic approach. The CCB Standards may be used for internal quality control within a jurisdiction using REDD+ SES, and the information

provided through CCB Standards validation and verification can feed into the assessment done for the whole jurisdiction using REDD+ SES.

## Validation and Verification using the CCB Standards

Use of the CCB Standards requires that independent, Approved Auditors determine conformance with the CCB Standards at two stages: validation and verification.

- **CCB Validation** is an evaluation of the design of a land management project against each of the CCB Standards criteria.
- **CCB Verification** is an evaluation of a project's delivery of net climate, community, and biodiversity benefits in accordance with the project's validated design. Verification must be performed at least every five years.

Successful CCB Verification enables the addition of a 'CCB label' to verified emissions reductions units listed on a registry. The CCB label is a permanent marker added to each credit's unique carbon registry identification code that makes it easier for investors and offset buyers to identify credits from a project that has met the CCB Standards. A 'CCB label' may be added to credits issued from projects that have completed verification against the CCB Standards. CCB labels may only be applied to carbon units for which the issuance period is entirely included in the period covered by the CCB Verification. The Project Proponent must request the addition of the CCB Label when requesting issuance of eligible emissions reductions and removals units, providing all required documentation to the registry and paying the required fees. The CCB label may only be added at the time of issuance of the unit.

A registry is a system used by GHG programs to issue and track carbon credits, linking standards and markets. At the time of publication, the participating registries that can add a CCB label are Markit VCS Registry <u>http://www.markit.com/sites/en/products/environmental/</u> and APX VCS Registry <u>http://www.vcsregistry.com/</u>.

Project design documents submitted for audit, those approved by the audit process, any public comments received, the name of the auditor, the validation or verification audit report and statement, whether the project met the requirements for Approved or Gold Level stating which Gold Level criteria achieved, the date of validation or verification along with any validations or certifications achieved by the project against other relevant standards are published on <a href="https://www.climate-standards.org/projects">www.climate-standards.org/projects</a>.

The required process for the validation and verification of projects to the CCB Standards through an independent audit is described in the *Rules for the Use of the Climate, Community & Biodiversity Standards* (December 2013) (referred to as the Rules) available at <u>www.climate-standards.org</u>.

#### Using this document for validation and verification

- 'Shall' indicates requirements that must be followed for conformance to the standard.
- 'Can be used' applies to manuals, methods and other tools that are recommended as guidance but the project proponent may choose to use other manuals, methods or tools.
- The following terms generally apply to requirements for validation: 'describe the measures needed', 'explain or specify the criteria and process', 'project design', etc.

- The following terms generally apply to requirements verification: 'describe the measures taken', 'have been included', 'demonstrate' that conditions have been met', described how conditions have been met during 'implementation', etc.
- In instances where the project needs to have implemented some activities at the time of validation (e.g. some aspects of stakeholder engagement) some terms may be applicable for validation as well as verification such as 'describe how', 'explain how', 'describe measures taken', 'demonstrate', etc.
- Throughout the Standards, requirements that are more relevant for verification and that should be addressed in the Project Implementation Report are in *italics*.

## Figure 1. CCB Standards system for quality assurance

CCB Standards	Rules for the Use of CCB Standards
<ul> <li>Criteria &amp; indicators - define conditions to be met and information to be provided</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Defines the process for validation of design &amp; verification of implementation</li> </ul>
Optional Gold Level criteria & indicators	<ul> <li>5 years maximum between validation &amp; subsequent verifications</li> </ul>
Glossary - definition of terms	<ul> <li>Approved Auditors - accredited to CDM, VCS, FSC</li> </ul>
CCBA Website	Registries

CCBA Website	Registries
<ul> <li>Publication of Project Design Documentation, Project Implementation Report, Validation/Verification Report and Statement</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>CCB Label can be added to credits from projects verified to CCB Standards covering issuance period</li> </ul>
CCB Status (Validated/Verified, Edition, Gold Level)	<ul> <li>No credits listed using CCB Standards alone</li> </ul>
Invitation and record of public comments	Participating registries: APX, Markit

Figure 2. CCB Standards Third Edition Checklis
------------------------------------------------

Ge	neral Section	
G1	Project Goals, Design & Long-Term Viability	Required
G2	Without-project Land Use Scenario & Additionality	Required
G3	Stakeholder Engagement	Required
G4	Management Capacity	Required
G5	Legal Status and Property Rights	Required

## **Climate Section**

CL1	Without-project Climate Scenario	Required
CL2	Net Positive Climate Impacts	Required
CL3	Offsite Climate Impacts	Required
CL4	Climate Impact Monitoring	Required
GL1	Climate Change Adaptation Benefits	Optional

## **Community Section**

CM1	Without-project Scenario for Communities	Required
CM2	Net Positive Community Impacts	Required
СМЗ	Offsite Stakeholder Impacts	Required
CM4	Community Impact Monitoring	Required
GL2	Exceptional Community Benefits	Optional

## **Biodiversity Section**

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
B1	Without-project Biodiversity Scenario	Required
B2	Net Positive Biodiversity Impacts	Required
B3	Offsite Biodiversity Impacts	Required
B4	Biodiversity Impacts Monitoring	Required
GL3	Exceptional Biodiversity Benefits	Optional

## CCB Standards Validation & Verification Levels

APPROVED All requirements met GOLD All requirements met a

All requirements met and at least one optional Gold Level criterion, specifying which Gold Level(s) achieved

## www.climate-standards.org

The Climate, Community & Biodiversity Alliance

## **GENERAL SECTION**

## G1. Project Goals, Design and Long-term Viability

## Concept

The project has clear objectives to generate climate, community and biodiversity benefits<sup>10</sup> and is designed to meet these objectives. Risks are identified and managed to generate and maintain project benefits within and beyond the life of the project.

## Indicators

#### **Project Overview**

- 1. Identify the primary Project Proponent which is responsible for the project's design and implementation and provide contact details.
- 2. Define the project's climate, community and biodiversity<sup>11</sup> objectives.<sup>12</sup>
- 3. Provide the location (country, sub-national jurisdictions(s)) and a brief overview of the basic physical<sup>13</sup> and social<sup>14</sup> parameters of the project.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The project's 'climate benefits' are defined as the GHG emissions reductions or removals resulting from project activities. The project's 'community benefits' are defined as improvements in the well-being of Communities resulting from project activities. The project's 'biodiversity benefits' are defined as enhancement of elements of biodiversity resulting from project activities. All project benefits take into account positive and negative impacts and are relative to conditions under the without-project land use scenario described in G2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> 'Biodiversity' is defined as the variability among living organisms from all sources including, inter alia, terrestrial, marine & other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes of which they are part; this includes diversity within species, between species and of ecosystems. Article 2. Use of terms. Definition of biological diversity. Convention on Biological Diversity. <u>http://www.cbd.int/convention/articles/?a=cbd-02</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The project shall have specific, measurable and distinct climate, community and biodiversity objectives such that climate, community or biodiversity benefits are not just a result of positive externalities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Such as soil, topography, climate temperature ranges and precipitation, types of vegetation, forest type, etc.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Such as main settlements and land use, economic activities, ethnic groups, migration, etc.

#### GENERAL

#### CLIMATE

COMMUNIT

#### **Project Design and Boundaries**

- 4. Define the boundaries of the Project Area<sup>15</sup> where project activities aim to generate net climate benefits and the Project Zone<sup>16</sup> where project activities are implemented.
- 5. Explain the process of stakeholder identification<sup>17</sup> and analysis used to identify Communities,<sup>18</sup> Community Groups<sup>19</sup> and Other Stakeholders.<sup>20</sup>
- 6. List all Communities, Community Groups and Other Stakeholders identified using the process explained in G 1.5.
- Provide a map identifying the location of Communities and the boundaries of the Project Area(s),<sup>21</sup> of the Project Zone, including any High Conservation Value areas (identified in CM1 and B1), and of additional areas that are predicted to be impacted by project activities identified in CL3, CM3 and B3.
- 8. Briefly describe each project activity and the expected outputs, outcomes and impacts of the activities identifying the causal relationships<sup>22</sup> that explain how the activities will achieve the project's predicted climate, community and biodiversity benefits.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The 'Project Area' is defined as the land area in which project activities aim to generate net climate benefits. <sup>16</sup> 'Project Zone' is defined as the area encompassing the Project Area in which project activities that directly affect land and associated resources, including activities such as those related to provision of alternative livelihoods and community development, are implemented. If using a programmatic approach, the Project Zone also includes all potential Project Areas (i.e. all potential new land areas in which project activities that aim to generate net climate benefits may be implemented in the future after the initial validation).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Stakeholder identification and analysis should include an assessment of rights, interests and relevance to the project for each stakeholder group. The following manual can be used for guidance on stakeholder identification and analysis: Social and Biodiversity Impact Assessment (SBIA) Manual for REDD+ Projects (Richards and Panfil, 2011) available at <a href="https://s3.amazonaws.com/CCBA/SBIA\_Manual/SBIA\_Part\_1.pdf">https://s3.amazonaws.com/CCBA/SBIA\_Manual/SBIA\_Part\_1.pdf</a>.

<sup>18 &#</sup>x27;Communities' are defined as all groups of people—including Indigenous Peoples, mobile peoples and other local communities—who derive income, livelihood or cultural values and other contributions to well-being from the Project Area at the start of the project and/or under the with-project scenario. In cases where numerous small Communities can be shown to have homogeneous patterns of social organization, political structure and livelihoods, these communities may be identified and listed as a Community. In identification of Communities, it is permitted to consider significance of user populations and of their level of use such that distant or intermittent user groups who have very limited dependence on the site need not be defined as Communities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> 'Community Groups' are sub-groups of Communities whose members derive similar income, livelihood and/or cultural values and other contributions to well-being from the Project Area and whose values are different from those of other groups; such as Indigenous Peoples, women, youth or other social, cultural and economic groups. The number of appropriate groups will depend on the size and complexity of the community. 'Indigenous Peoples' are defined as distinct social and cultural groups whose members identify themselves as belonging to an indigenous cultural group. (See Glossary for more information.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> 'Other Stakeholders' are defined as all groups other than Communities who can potentially affect or be affected by the project activities and who may live within or outside the Project Zone.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Location information must allow the identification of the boundaries of the Project Area unambiguously and with a reasonable level of certainty through the provision of digital data such as GPS coordinates, KML files, or shape files.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Causal relationships should be built upon a theory of change analysis, and based on the same analysis of drivers and actors of land use or land-use change used for the without-project scenario described in G2, CL1, CM1 and B1.

9. Define the project start date<sup>23</sup> and lifetime,<sup>24</sup> and GHG accounting period<sup>25</sup> and biodiversity and community benefits assessment period if relevant, and explain and justify any differences between them. Define an implementation schedule, indicating key dates and milestones in the project's development.

#### **Risk Management and Long-term Viability**

- 10. Identify likely natural and human-induced risks<sup>26</sup> to the expected climate, community and biodiversity benefits during the project lifetime and outline measures needed and *taken* to mitigate these risks.
- 11. Describe the measures needed and *taken* to maintain and enhance the climate, community and biodiversity benefits beyond the project lifetime.
- 12. Demonstrate that financial mechanisms adopted, including actual and projected revenues from GHG emissions reductions or removals and other sources, provide an adequate actual and projected flow of funds for project implementation and to achieve the project's climate, community and biodiversity benefits.

#### Programmatic approach

The following information shall be provided for projects using a programmatic approach.<sup>27</sup>

- 13. Specify the Project Area(s) and Communities that may be included under the programmatic approach, and identify any new Project Area(s) and Communities that have been included in the project since the last validation or verification against the CCB Standards.
- 14. Specify the eligibility criteria<sup>28</sup> and process for project expansion under the programmatic approach and demonstrate that these have been met for any new Project Areas and

The following manual is recommended for guidance on participatory theory of change analysis: Social and Biodiversity Impact Assessment (SBIA) Manual for REDD+ Projects (Richards and Panfil, 2011). Available at <u>https://s3.amazonaws.com/CCBA/SBIA Manual/SBIA Part 1.pdf</u>. Appropriate imprecision is permissible, as mentioned in the aforementioned manual.

<sup>23</sup> The 'project start date' is defined as the start of implementation of activities that will directly cause the project's expected climate community or biodiversity benefits.

<sup>24</sup> The 'project lifetime' is defined as the time period over which project activities are implemented.

<sup>25</sup> The 'project GHG accounting period' is defined as the time period over which changes in GHG emissions reductions and/or removals resulting from project activities are monitored for use as offsets.

<sup>26</sup> Including risks in the shorter and longer term, risks related to continued community willingness to participate in the project, risks related to ability to adapt to climate change and climate variability, etc.

<sup>27</sup> A 'programmatic approach' allows the expansion of project activities that aim to generate net climate benefits to new land areas subsequent to project validation subject to meeting established eligibility criteria. Conformance with the standards is assessed for new activities during the next validation or verification of the project against the CCB Standards (see Rules for the Use of the CCB Standards available at <u>www.climate-standards.org</u>).

<sup>28</sup> Eligibility criteria must include: adoption of project activities specified in the project design documentation and applied in the same manner as specified in the project design documentation; subject to the climate, community and biodiversity without-project scenarios as determined for the project; have similar characteristics with respect

Communities that have been included in the project since the last validation or verification against the CCB Standards.

15. Establish scalability limits,<sup>29</sup> if applicable, and describe measures needed and *taken* to address any risks to climate, community and biodiversity benefits if the project expands beyond those limits.

to additionality; subject to the same processes for stakeholder engagement described in G3 and respect for rights to lands, territories and resources including free, prior and informed consent described in G5; and have similar monitoring elements.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> This is the scale beyond which, if new project activities are added, the project may not generate net positive climate, community or biodiversity benefits, such as capacity limits, economic and managerial constraints, and thresholds for project expansion beyond which there may be negative impacts on communities and/or biodiversity.

## G2. Without-project Land Use Scenario and Additionality

### Concept

The without-project land use scenario<sup>30</sup> describes expected land use or land-use changes in the Project Zone<sup>31</sup> in the absence of project activities. The project impacts for climate, communities and biodiversity are measured against the expected conditions for total GHG emissions, for Communities and for biodiversity associated with this without-project land use scenario (described in CL1, CM1, and B1). Project benefits must be 'additional', such that they would not have occurred without the project.

## Indicators

- Describe the most likely land-use scenario within the Project Zone in the absence of the project,<sup>32</sup> describing the range of potential land-use scenarios and the associated drivers of land use changes and justifying why the land-use scenario selected is most likely.<sup>33</sup> It is allowable for different locations within the Project Zone to have different without-project land use scenarios.
- 2. Document that project benefits including climate, community and biodiversity benefits would not have occurred in the absence of the project, explaining how existing laws, regulations and governance arrangements, or lack of laws and regulations and their enforcement, would likely affect land use and justifying that the benefits being claimed by the project are truly 'additional' and would not have occurred without the project.<sup>34</sup> Identify any distinct climate, community and biodiversity benefits intended for use as offsets and specify how additionality is established for each of these benefits.<sup>35</sup>

<sup>35</sup> The following paper can be used as guidance:

http://pdf.wri.org/factsheets/factsheet stacking payments for ecosystem services.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> The 'without-project land use scenario' is equivalent to 'baseline scenario' for the Verified Carbon Standard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> The land use analysis is done for the Project Zone because this represents the largest geographic area of the project's direct impacts and encompasses the Project Area.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> In cases where a published methodology or model is used to assess land use change and the drivers of land use change, the full reference shall be given and any variations from the published methodology shall be explained.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> The drivers, actors and causal model for land use change used for the without-project scenario should underpin the project's causal model described in G1.8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Project Proponents must demonstrate that project activities would not have been implemented under the without-project scenario due to significant financial, technological, institutional or capacity barriers. Actions implemented by the project must not be required by law, or project proponents must demonstrate that the pertinent laws are not being enforced. Project Proponents must provide credible and well-documented analyses (e.g., poverty assessments, farming knowledge assessments, or remote sensing analysis) to demonstrate that the without-project land use scenario reflects land use practices that are likely to continue or that otherwise differ from the land use practices expected as a result of project activities. The most recent version of the following Verified Carbon Standard tool may be used (http://v-c-s.org/methodologies/VT0001) considering the following options: Sub-step 2b. – Option I. Apply simple cost analysis; or Step 3. Barrier analysis.

## **G3.** Stakeholder Engagement

## Concept

Communities and Other Stakeholders are involved in the project through full and effective participation,<sup>36</sup> including access to information, consultation, participation in decision-making and implementation, and Free, Prior and Informed Consent (requirements for Free, Prior and Informed Consent are included in G5.2). Timely and adequate information is accessible in a language and manner understood by the Communities and Other Stakeholders. Effective and timely consultations are conducted with all relevant stakeholders and participation is ensured, as appropriate, of those that want to be involved.

Feedback and Grievance Redress Procedures are established and functional.

Best practices are adopted for worker relations and safety.

## Indicators

#### Access to information

- Describe how full project documentation<sup>37</sup> has been made accessible to Communities and Other Stakeholders, how summary project documentation<sup>38</sup> (including how to access full documentation) has been actively disseminated to Communities in relevant local or regional languages, and how widely publicized information meetings have been held with Communities and Other Stakeholders.
- Explain how relevant and adequate information about potential costs, risks and benefits<sup>39</sup> to Communities has been provided to them in a form they understand and in a timely manner prior to any decision they may be asked to make with respect to participation in the project.
- 3. Describe the measures taken, and communications methods used, to explain to Communities and Other Stakeholders the process for validation and/or verification against the CCB Standards

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Full and effective participation means meaningful influence of all relevant rights holder and stakeholder groups who want to be involved throughout the process, and includes access to information, consultation, participation in decision-making and implementation and Free, Prior and Informed Consent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Includes project design documentation, project implementation reports and monitoring reports, as they become available, through the project lifetime.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Summary documentation disseminated to Communities prior to validation to the CCB Standards shall at least include information required for G1.1-9, and prior to verification to the CCB Standards shall at least include information on monitoring results showing that the project has delivered net positive climate, community and biodiversity benefits.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Costs, risks and benefits to communities should be identified using a participatory and transparent process. The following manual can be used: Social and Biodiversity Impact Assessment (SBIA) Manual for REDD+ Projects (Richards and Panfil, 2011) available at <a href="https://s3.amazonaws.com/CCBA/SBIA\_Manual/SBIA\_Part\_1.pdf">https://s3.amazonaws.com/CCBA/SBIA\_Manual/SBIA\_Part\_1.pdf</a>. All assessment of costs, risks and benefits include those that are direct and indirect and include those related to social, cultural, environmental and economic aspects and to human rights and rights to lands territories and resources. Costs include those related to responsibilities and also opportunity costs. Note that the term 'benefits' refers to positive impacts and the phrase 'costs and risks' equates with negative impacts.

by an independent Auditor,<sup>40</sup> providing them with timely information about the Auditor's site visit before the site visit occurs and facilitating direct and independent communication between them or their representatives and the Auditor.

#### Consultation

4. Describe how Communities including all the Community Groups and Other Stakeholders have influenced project design and *implementation* through Effective Consultation,<sup>41</sup> particularly with a view to optimizing Community and Other Stakeholder benefits, respecting local customs, values and institutions and maintaining high conservation values. Project proponents must document consultations and indicate if and how the project design and implementation has been revised based on such input.<sup>42</sup> A plan must be developed and *implemented* to continue communication and consultation between the project proponents and Communities, including all the Community Groups, and Other Stakeholders about the project and its impacts to facilitate adaptive management<sup>43</sup> throughout the life of the project.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> An Auditor is defined as a recognized, qualified and independent auditing organization that evaluates whether a project has met each of the CCB criteria and any other requirements following the process for validation or verification against the CCB Standards defined in the Rules for the Use of the CCB Standards available at <a href="http://www.climate-standards.org/">http://www.climate-standards.org/</a>. The Auditor must be approved by the CCBA as defined in the Rules for the Use of the CCB Standards; a list of Approved Auditors can be found at <a href="http://www.climate-standards.org/ccb-standards/">http://www.climate-standards.org/ccb-standards/</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Effective consultation requires Project Proponents to inform and engage broadly with the Communities and Other Stakeholders using socially and culturally appropriate methods to enable meaningful influence on the subject of consultation. Consultations must be gender and inter-generationally sensitive with special attention to vulnerable and/or marginalized people and must be conducted at mutually agreed locations and through representatives who are designated by the groups themselves in accordance with their own procedures. Different approaches may be appropriate for different Community Groups or Other Stakeholders. Communities and Community Groups potentially affected by the project must have an opportunity to evaluate impacts and raise concerns about potential negative impacts, express desired outcomes and provide input on the project design including the theory of change, both before the project design is finalized and during implementation. Consultations must include participatory identification of ecosystem services important for Communities and High Conservation Values, for example through participatory mapping. Consultations must also include an evaluation of the type and magnitude of impacts resulting from project activities (CM2.1). Consultations must also include a participatory design of Feedback and Grievance Redress Procedures (G3.8).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> In cases where it is unclear whether a project will be implemented or not, it is acceptable to start with preliminary consultations, provided there are plans for appropriate full consultations before the start of the project. Where conformance with the CCB Standards is being applied to a project already under implementation, project proponents must either provide documentation of appropriate consultations during the project design phase or demonstrate how more recent consultations have been effective in evaluating Community benefits and adapting project design and implementation to optimize Community and Other Stakeholder benefits and respect local customs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Adaptive management in an approach that accepts that management must proceed without complete information. It views management not only as a way to achieve objectives, but also as a process for probing to learn more about the resource or system being managed. Learning is an inherent objective of adaptive management. Adaptive management is a process where policies and activities can adapt to future conditions to improve management success.

5. Demonstrate that all consultations and participatory processes have been undertaken directly with Communities and Other Stakeholders or through their legitimate representatives, ensuring adequate levels of information sharing with the members of the groups.

#### Participation in decision-making and implementation

6. Describe the measures needed and *taken* to enable effective participation, as appropriate, of all Communities, including all the Community Groups, that want and need to be involved in project design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation throughout the project lifetime, and describe how they have been implemented in a culturally appropriate and gender sensitive manner.

#### Anti-Discrimination

 Describe the measures needed and *taken* to ensure that the project proponent and all other entities involved in project design and implementation are not involved in or complicit in any form of discrimination<sup>44</sup> or sexual harassment with respect to the project.

#### Feedback and Grievance Redress Procedure

8. Demonstrate that a clear grievance redress procedure has been formalized to address disputes with Communities and Other Stakeholders that may arise during project planning, implementation and evaluation with respect but not limited to, Free, Prior and Informed Consent, rights to lands, territories and resources, benefit sharing, and participation.<sup>45</sup>

The project shall include a process for receiving, hearing, responding to and attempting to resolve Grievances within a reasonable time period.<sup>46</sup> The Feedback and Grievance Redress Procedure shall take into account traditional methods that Communities and Other Stakeholders use to resolve conflicts.

The Feedback and Grievance Redress Procedure shall have three stages with reasonable time limits for each of the following stages.

First, the Project Proponent shall attempt to amicably resolve all Grievances, and provide a written response to the Grievances in a manner that is culturally appropriate.

Second, any Grievances that are not resolved by amicable negotiations shall be referred to mediation by a neutral third party.

Third, any Grievances that are not resolved through mediation shall be referred either to a) arbitration, to the extent allowed by the laws of the relevant jurisdiction or b) competent courts in the relevant jurisdiction, without prejudice to a party's ability to submit the Grievance to a competent supranational adjudicatory body, if any.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Including discrimination based on gender, race, religion, sexual orientation or other habits.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Referred to as Grievances.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Referred to as Feedback and Grievance Redress Procedure

The Feedback and Grievance Redress Procedure must be publicized and accessible to Communities and Other Stakeholders. Grievances and project responses, including any redress, must be documented and made publicly available.

## Worker<sup>47</sup> Relations

- 9. Describe measures needed and *taken* to provide orientation and training for the project's workers and relevant people from the Communities with an objective of building locally useful skills and knowledge to increase local participation in project implementation. These capacity building efforts should target a wide range of people in the Communities, with special attention to women and vulnerable and/or marginalized people. Identify how training is passed on to new workers when there is staff turnover, so that local capacity will not be lost.
- 10. *Demonstrate* that people from the Communities are given an equal opportunity to fill all work positions (including management) if the job requirements are met. Explain how workers are selected for positions and where relevant, describe the measures needed and *taken* to ensure Community members, including women and vulnerable and/or marginalized people, are given a fair chance to fill positions for which they can be trained.
- 11. Submit a list of all relevant laws and regulations covering worker's rights in the host country. Describe measures needed and *taken* to inform workers about their rights. Provide assurance that the project meets or exceeds all applicable laws and/or regulations covering worker rights and, where relevant, demonstrate how compliance is achieved.
- 12. Comprehensively assess situations and occupations that might arise through the implementation of the project and pose a substantial risk to worker safety. Describe measures needed and *taken* to inform workers of risks and to explain how to minimize such risks. Where worker safety cannot be guaranteed, project proponents must show how the risks are minimized using best work practices in line with the culture and customary practices of the communities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> 'Workers' are defined as people directly working on project activities in return for compensation (financial or otherwise), including employees, contracted workers, sub-contracted workers and community members that are paid to carry out project-related work.

### Concept

The project has adequate human and financial resources for effective implementation.

## Indicators

- 1. Describe the project's governance structures, and roles and responsibilities of all the entities involved in project design and implementation. For projects using a programmatic approach, identify any new entities included in the project since the last validation or verification against the CCB Standards.
- 2. Document key technical skills required to implement the project successfully, including community engagement, biodiversity assessment and carbon measurement and monitoring skills. Document the management team's expertise and prior experience implementing land management and carbon projects at the scale of this project. If relevant experience is lacking, the proponents must either demonstrate how other organizations are partnered with to support the project or have a recruitment strategy to fill the gaps.
- 3. Document the financial health of the implementing organization(s). Provide assurance that the Project Proponent and any of the other entities involved in project design and implementation are not involved in or are not complicit in any form of corruption<sup>48</sup> such as bribery,<sup>49</sup> embezzlement,<sup>50</sup> fraud,<sup>51</sup> favoritism, cronyism, nepotism,<sup>52</sup> extortion,<sup>53</sup> and collusion,<sup>54</sup> and describe any measures needed *and taken* to be able to provide this assurance.

http://issuu.com/transparencyinternational/docs/2012 keepingreddclean en?e=2496456/1427494

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> The abuse of entrusted power for private gain. The following guide can be used:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Giving someone a benefit (such as money or services) to persuade them to do something in return. Bribes can also be referred to as kickbacks, hush money or protection money.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> The taking or conversion of money, property or valuable items by an individual who is not entitled to them but has access to them by virtue of their position.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Behavior designed to trick another person or entity for one's own benefit or that of a third party.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> The favorable treatment of friends, business associates (cronyism) and family (nepotism) in the distribution of resources and positions, regardless of their objective merits.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> The process of coercion, where a person or institution forces another party to pay in exchange for doing or saying something, or not doing or saying something.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> An arrangement between two or more parties designed to achieve an improper purpose, including influencing improperly the actions of another party. The most common form of collusion is when bidders agree among themselves on prices and on 'who should win'. The practice of collusion likely involves a hefty bribe or promise thereof in order to induce the other party to sidestep the expected and legitimate behavior. If that brings a gain to the companies and/ or individuals taking part in that activity it is corruption.

## **G5.** Legal Status and Property Rights<sup>55</sup>

### Concept

The project is based on an internationally accepted legal framework, complies with relevant statutory and customary requirements and has necessary approvals from the appropriate state, local and indigenous authorities.

The project recognizes respects and supports rights to lands, territories and resources, including the statutory and customary rights of Indigenous Peoples and others within Communities and Other Stakeholders.<sup>56</sup> The Free, Prior and Informed Consent (as described in G5.2) of relevant Property Rights Holders has been obtained at every stage of the project.

Project activities do not lead to involuntary removal or relocation of Property Rights Holders from their lands or territories, and does not force them to relocate activities important to their culture or livelihood.<sup>57</sup> Any proposed removal or relocation occurs only after obtaining Free, Prior and Informed Consent from the relevant Property Rights Holders.

### Indicators

#### Respect for rights to lands, territories and resources, and Free, Prior and Informed Consent

- Describe and map statutory and customary<sup>58</sup> tenure/use/access/management rights to lands, territories and resources in the Project Zone including individual and collective rights and including overlapping or conflicting rights. If applicable, describe measures needed and *taken* by the project to help to secure statutory rights. *Demonstrate* that all Property Rights are recognized, respected, and supported.
- 2. Demonstrate with documented consultations and agreements that
  - a. the project will not encroach uninvited on private property, community property, <sup>59</sup> or government property,
  - b. the Free, Prior, and Informed Consent<sup>60</sup> has been obtained of those whose property rights are affected by the project through a transparent, agreed process.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> 'Property Rights' are defined as statutory and customary tenure/use/access/management rights to lands, territories and resources and 'Property Rights Holders' are the entities that have individual or collective Property Rights.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, Article 10. ILO Convention 169, Article 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> 'Customary rights' to lands, territories and resources refer to patterns of long-standing community lands, territories and resource usage in accordance with Indigenous Peoples' and local communities' customary laws, values, customs, and traditions, including seasonal or cyclical use, rather than formal legal title to lands, territories and resources issued by the State. World Bank Operational Manual, OP 4.10 – Indigenous Peoples, July 2005 http://web.worldbank.org/external/default/main?Email=Y&contentMDK=20553653&menuPK=64701637&pagePK =64709096&piPK=64709108&theSitePK=502184.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Including collective rights, both customary and statutory, to lands, territories and resources that communities have traditionally owned, occupied or otherwise used or acquired whether or not such ownership has been formally recorded. FAO Voluntary Guidelines on the Responsible Governance of Tenure. Principle 3.1.

Free, Prior and Informed Consent<sup>61</sup> is defined as:

- **'Free'** means no coercion, intimidation, manipulation, threat and bribery;
- 'Prior' means sufficiently in advance of any authorization or commencement of activities and respecting the time requirements of their decision-making processes;
- **'Informed'** means that information is provided that covers (at least) the following aspects
  - a. the nature, size, pace, reversibility and scope of any proposed project or activity;
  - b. the reason/s or purpose of the project and/or activity;
  - c. the duration of the above;
  - d. the locality of areas that will be affected;
  - e. a preliminary assessment of the likely economic, social, cultural and environmental impact, including potential risks and fair and equitable benefit sharing in a context that respects the precautionary principle;
  - f. personnel likely to be involved in the execution of the proposed project (including Indigenous Peoples, private sector staff, research institutions, government employees, and others); and
  - g. procedures that the project may entail; and
- **'Consent'** means that there is the option of withholding consent and that the parties have reasonably understood it.
- Collective rights holders must be able to participate through their own freely chosen representatives and customary or other institutions following a transparent process for obtaining their Free, Prior and Informed Consent that they have defined.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> In conformance with the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples and International Labour Organization (ILO) Convention 169. The following manual can be used for guidance on Free, Prior and Informed Consent: Free, Prior and Informed Consent in REDD+: Principles and Approaches for Policy and Project Development. (Anderson. 2011). Available at <a href="http://www.recoftc.org">http://www.recoftc.org</a>. If non-contacted peoples are located or believed to be located in the project area, their right to remain in isolation should be respected in accordance with local, national and international laws and recommendations. Unless invited to make contact, implementing entities should not engage in any activities that may impact these populations, including project activities. There should be a buffer zone between the project area and the area in which indigenous populations living in voluntary isolation and Initial Contact in the Amazon Region, the Gran Chaco and the Eastern Region of Paraguay, Office of the United Nations High Commissioner (OHCHR) and the Spanish Agency for International Cooperation and Development, May 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup>Definition of Free Prior and Informed Consent from International Workshop on Free, Prior and Informed Consent and Indigenous Peoples (January 2005), United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, U.N. Doc. PFII/2005/WS.2/4, available at <u>http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/.../workshop\_FPIC\_ILO.doc</u> It is important to note that consultation is not the same as consent. Free, Prior and Informed Consent is the decision made by a community following a consultation. A project team must receive affirmative consent from relevant Property Rights Holders prior to commencing with project activities. U.N. Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, U.N. General Assembly, Resolution adopted by the General Assembly, October 2, 2007, A/RES/61/295, Articles 32 (2), available at <u>www.un.org/esa/socdev.unpfii/documents/DRIPS\_en.pdf</u>.

COMMUNITY

- c. appropriate restitution or compensation has been allocated to any parties whose lands have been or will be affected by the project.<sup>62</sup>
- 3. *Demonstrate* that project activities do not lead to involuntary removal or relocation of Property Rights Holders from their lands or territories, and does not force them to relocate\_activities important to their culture or livelihood. If any relocation of habitation or activities is undertaken within the terms of an agreement, the project proponents must *demonstrate* that the agreement was made with the Free, Prior, and Informed Consent of those concerned and includes provisions for just and fair compensation.<sup>63</sup>
- 4. Identify any illegal activities that could affect the project's climate, community or biodiversity impacts (e.g. illegal logging) taking place in the Project Zone and describe measures needed and *taken* to reduce these activities so that project benefits are not derived from illegal activities.<sup>64</sup>
- 5. Identify any ongoing or unresolved conflicts or disputes over rights to lands, territories and resources and also any disputes that were resolved during the last twenty years where such records exist, or at least during the last ten years. If applicable, describe measures needed and *taken* to resolve conflicts or disputes.<sup>65</sup> *Demonstrate* that no activity is undertaken by the project that could prejudice the outcome of an unresolved dispute relevant to the project over lands, territories and resources in the Project Zone.

#### Legal status

- 6. Submit a list of all national and local laws<sup>66</sup> and regulations in the host country that are relevant to the project activities. Provide assurance that the project is complying with these and, where relevant, demonstrate how compliance is achieved.
- 7. Document that the project has approval from the appropriate authorities, including the established formal and/or traditional authorities customarily required by the Communities.
- Demonstrate that the Project Proponent(s) has the unconditional, undisputed and unencumbered ability to claim that the project will or did generate or cause the project's climate,<sup>67</sup> community and biodiversity benefits.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Compensation should include both the financial and non-financial costs of the loss of lands, for example loss of culture or loss of business opportunity. UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, Article 10. Article 28
 <sup>63</sup> In conformance with the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples and ILO 169. Article 28

of the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples indicates that unless otherwise agreed upon, compensation should be in the form of lands, territories or resources equivalent in quality, size and legal status to those taken. When such compensation is not available, monetary compensation is appropriate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> If the project enables previously illegal activities to become "legal" by means of appropriate laws and other means, benefits from these activities may be considered for the net benefit analysis in CL2, CM2 and B2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> FAO Voluntary Guidelines on the Responsible Governance of Tenure. Principle 25.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Local laws include all norms given by organisms of government whose jurisdiction is less than the national level, such as departmental, municipal and customary norms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Corresponds to 'Right of Use' defined by VCS. Right of Use may be accorded to the Project Proponent(s) in the following circumstances: 1) A right of use arising or granted under statute, regulation or decree by a competent authority. 2) A right of use arising under law. 3) A right of use arising by virtue of a statutory, property or

9. Identify the tradable climate, community and biodiversity benefits of the project and specify how double counting is avoided, particularly for offsets sold on the voluntary market and generated in a country participating in a compliance mechanism.

contractual right in the plant, equipment or process that generates GHG emission reductions and/or removals (where such right includes the right of use of such reductions or removals and the Project Proponent has not been divested of such right includes the right of use arising by virtue of a statutory, property or contractual right in the land, vegetation or conservational or management process that generates GHG emission reductions and/or removals (where such right includes the right of use). 5) An enforceable and irrevocable agreement with the holder of the statutory, property or contractual right in the plant, equipment or process that generates GHG emission reductions and/or removals which vests the right of use in the project proponent. 6) An enforceable and irrevocable agreement with the holder of the statutory, property or contractual right of use in the project proponent. 6) An enforceable and irrevocable agreement with the holder of the statutory, property or contractual right of use in the project proponent. 6) An enforceable and irrevocable agreement with the holder of the statutory, property or contractual right of use in the project proponent. 6) An enforceable and irrevocable agreement with the holder of the statutory, property or contractual right in the land, vegetation or conservational or management process that generates GHG emission reductions or removals which vests the right of use in the project Proponent. (VCS Version 3, Requirements document, 8<sup>th</sup> March 2012. <a href="http://www.v-c-s.org/files/VCS%20Standard,%20v3.0.pdf">http://www.v-c-s.org/files/VCS%20Standard,%20v3.0.pdf</a>)

### **CLIMATE SECTION**

This section is used to demonstrate a project's net positive climate benefits and not for claiming greenhouse gas (GHG)<sup>68</sup> emissions reductions and removals units that may be used as offsets. This section is not required<sup>69</sup> for projects that have met the requirements of a recognized GHG Program.<sup>70</sup>

## **CL1.** Without-Project Climate Scenario

#### Concept

Estimates of total GHG emissions in the Project Area under the without-project land use scenario are described.

## Indicators

Estimate the total GHG emissions inside the Project Area under the without-project land use scenario (described in G2) using an Approved<sup>71</sup> or Defensible<sup>72</sup> methodological approach. The timeframe for this analysis is the project GHG accounting period or the project lifetime.<sup>73</sup> In the without-project scenario, it is allowable for the analysis to exclude GHG emissions from sources such as biomass burning, fossil fuel combustion, synthetic fertilizers, and to exclude non-CO<sub>2</sub> GHG emissions such as CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O gases, in cases where this can be justified as conservative. The analysis of GHG emissions or removals must include carbon pools<sup>74</sup> expected to increase significantly<sup>75</sup> under the without-project scenario.

<sup>74</sup> Carbon pools are defined as a reservoir of carbon. A system that has the capacity to accumulate or release carbon. Carbon pools are measured in terms of mass (e.g., metric tons of carbon). The major carbon pools

 $<sup>^{68}</sup>$  Greenhouse gases are defined as gaseous components of the atmosphere that trap infrared heat and contribute to the Earth's greenhouse effect. In addition to carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), prominent GHGs related to forests include methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) and nitrous oxides (N<sub>2</sub>O).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> The optional Gold Level for climate change adaptation GL1 may be used if the project is eligible for a waiver of the Climate Section CL1-4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> A list of GHG Programs recognized by the CCBA is published on the CCBA website (<u>www.climate-standards.org</u>). See also the Rules for the use of the Climate, Community & Biodiversity Standards.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Approved methodologies are those approved by GHG programs recognized by the CCBA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> A 'Defensible' methodological approach follows good practice guidance that includes procedures for delineating the conditions under which the methodological approach can be applied: defining the project area; estimating any projected rates of land cover change in the without-project and with-project scenarios; conservatively estimating without project GHG emissions and removals; monitoring GHG emissions over the project lifetime; defining types of leakage potential caused by project activities; and conservatively estimating expected leakage emissions under the with-project scenario. It shall also observe principles of relevance, completeness, consistency, transparency and conservativeness for land-based carbon accounting; such as the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's 2006 Guidelines for National GHG Inventories for Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use (IPCC 2006 GL for AFOLU), and the AFOLU Requirements of the Verified Carbon Standard. The principle of conservativeness means that where accounting relies on assumptions, values and procedures with high uncertainty, the most conservative option in the biological range should be chosen so as not overestimate GHG removals or GHG emissions. <sup>73</sup> In some cases, the project lifetime may be longer than the project GHG accounting period.

## **CL2.** Net Positive Climate Impacts

### Concept

The project reduces GHG emissions over the project lifetime from project activities within the project area.

## Indicators

- 1. Estimate the total GHG emissions expected from land use activities inside the project area under the with-project land use scenario using an Approved or Defensible methodological approach. This estimate must be based on clearly defined and defendable assumptions about changes in GHG emissions under the with-project scenario over the project lifetime or the project GHG accounting period. The GHG emissions estimate must include non  $CO_2$  emissions such as  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  (in terms of CO2-equivalent<sup>76</sup>). and GHG emissions from sources such as biomass burning, fossil fuel combustion, use of synthetic fertilizers and the decomposition of N-fixing species, etc., if those GHG emissions sources are cumulatively likely to account for more than 20% of the project's expected total GHG emissions in the with-project scenario.<sup>77</sup>
- Demonstrate that the net climate impact of the project is positive. The net climate impact of the project is the difference between the total GHG emissions or removals in the withoutproject scenario (including CO<sub>2</sub> and non-CO<sub>2</sub> GHG emissions) and total GHG emissions or removals resulting from project activities, minus any project-related negative offsite climate impacts ('Leakage' see CL3).

<sup>75</sup> That may negate the net positive benefit.

http://cdm.unfccc.int/EB/031/eb31 repan16.pdf

associated with forestry projects are: live biomass (including above and below ground components, i.e., roots), dead biomass, soil, and wood products.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> CO<sub>2</sub>-equivalent is the universal unit of measurement used to indicate the global warming potential (GWP) of each of the seven greenhouse gases. It is used to evaluate the impacts of releasing (or avoiding the release of) different greenhouse gases. For GWP's of relevant GHGs refer to relevant decisions of the CDM Executive Board or the Verified Carbon Standard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> GHG sources may be excluded from this estimate where cumulatively emissions from those sources are less than 20% of the project's expected total GHG emission in the with-project scenario. To determine which sources may be excluded, sources are ranked in order of their relative contribution to the total GHG emissions in the with-project scenario, starting with the lowest source and added until the total cumulative level of 20% is reached (i.e. GHG sources with the lowest cumulative contribution up to 20% may be excluded from the estimate). The threshold of 20% has been adopted as a reasonable limit for demonstration of net climate benefits so that it is not necessary to measure emissions sources if cumulatively they are clearly lower than this level. The following CDM Executive Board tool can be used as guidance for ranking GHG emissions sources:

## CL3. Offsite Climate Impacts ('Leakage')

## Concept

Increased GHG emissions that occur beyond the project area caused by project activities ('Leakage') are assessed and mitigated and accounted for in the demonstration of net climate impacts.

## Indicators

- Determine the types of Leakage<sup>78</sup> that are expected and estimate offsite increases in GHG emissions due to project activities using an Approved or Defensible methodological approach. Where relevant, define and justify where Leakage is most likely to take place.
- 2. Describe the measures taken to mitigate Leakage.
- Non-CO<sub>2</sub> emissions must be included if they are likely to account for more than 20% of the total Leakage emissions (in terms of CO<sub>2</sub>-equivalent) following the procedures for including or excluding non-CO<sub>2</sub> emissions described in CL 2.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> The following tools can be used for further explanation and clarification on leakage: Section 4.6.1 in the VCS AFOLU Requirements (<u>http://www.v-c-s.org/sites/v-c-s.org/files/AFOLU%20Requirements%2C%20v3.4.pdf</u>) and/or IPCC LULUCF report (<u>http://www.ipcc.ch/ipccreports/sres/land\_use/index.php?idp=71</u>) may be used.

## **CL4.** Climate Impact Monitoring

## Concept

Climate impact monitoring assesses changes (within and outside the Project Area) in project-related carbon pools, project emissions, and non-CO2 GHG emissions if relevant, resulting from project activities.

## Indicators

- Develop and implement a plan for monitoring changes in relevant carbon pools, non-CO<sub>2</sub> GHGs and emissions sources and leakage (as identified in CL1, CL2 and CL3)<sup>79</sup> using an Approved or Defensible methodological approach and following the defined frequency of monitoring of defined parameters. Emissions sources to monitor must include any sources expected to cumulatively contribute more than 20% of total GHG emissions in the with-project scenario (See footnote to CL2.1). Where the methodological approach used to estimate leakage under CL3 requires monitoring, this leakage must be monitored.
- Disseminate the monitoring plan and any results of monitoring undertaken in accordance with the monitoring plan, ensuring that they are made publicly available on the internet and summaries are communicated to the Communities and Other Stakeholders through appropriate means.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Synergies should be sought with biodiversity monitoring, such as monitoring of changes in habitats.

## **Optional Criterion**

## **GL1.** Climate Change Adaptation Benefits

## Concept

The project provides significant support to assist Communities and/or biodiversity in adapting to the impacts of climate change. Strategies to help Communities and biodiversity adapt to climate change are identified and implemented.<sup>80</sup>

### Indicators

- Identify likely regional or sub-national climate change and climate variability scenarios and impacts, using available studies,<sup>81</sup> and identify potential changes in the local land use scenario due to these climate change scenarios in the absence of the project.
- Demonstrate that current or anticipated climate changes are having or are likely to have an impact on the well-being of Communities<sup>82</sup> and/or the conservation status of biodiversity<sup>83</sup> in the Project Zone and surrounding regions.

(<u>http://sdwebx.worldbank.org/climateportal/index.cfm?page=global\_map</u>) Climate Change Wizard (<u>http://www.climatewizard.org/</u>); Water World (<u>http://www.policysupport.org/waterworld</u>), etc.

<sup>82</sup> Project Proponent(s) can demonstrate, for example, evidence of decreased access to ecosystem services of importance for communities' livelihoods and overall well-being. Climate change models such as Costing Nature (<u>http://www.policysupport.org/costingnature</u>), that detail the predicted effects on these-ecosystem services, such as freshwater, and participatory evaluations can be used to demonstrate anticipated impacts on communities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Consideration should be made of Communities and biodiversity that may be more vulnerable to the negative impacts of these changes due to, for example: vulnerability of key crops or production systems to climatic changes; lack of diversity of livelihood resources and inadequate resources, institutions and capacity to develop new livelihood strategies; and high levels of threat to species survival from habitat fragmentation. Strategies to help local communities and biodiversity adapt to climate change may include diversifying revenues and livelihood strategies; strengthening community organizations and social security systems; maintaining valuable ecosystem services such as hydrological regulation, pollination, pest control and soil fertility; and increasing habitat connectivity across a range of habitat and climate types.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> The following tools can be used: Climate Change Knowledge Portal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Project Proponent(s) can demonstrate evidence of a change in actual range, phenology or behavior of a species found within the Project Zone. For a range change, the Project Proponents should demonstrate that the change affects the entire range of the species and not just a subset of the range (which might be part of natural variation and offset by gains in other parts of the species range). Alternatively, the Project Proponents can demonstrate anticipated negative changes in the range of one or more species found in the project area using modeling techniques. The recommended modeling tool is Maxent because of its ease of implementation and performance (<u>http://www.cs.princeton.edu/~schapire/maxent/</u>). Recommended climatologies are IPCC4 A1 or A2 scenarios, Hadley or Japan high resolution GCM, downscaled to 1km (also available on the internet at http://www.worldclim.org). Best practice is to have this analysis conducted by a researcher who has published on

climate and species distribution modeling using Maxent in the peer-review literature.

- 3. Describe measures needed and *taken* to assist Communities and/or biodiversity to adapt to the probable impacts of climate change based on the causal model that explains how the project activities will achieve the project's predicted adaptation benefits.
- 4. Include indicators for adaptation benefits for Communities and/or biodiversity in the monitoring plan. *Demonstrate* that the project activities assist Communities<sup>84</sup> and/or biodiversity<sup>85</sup> to adapt to the probable impacts of climate change. Assessment of impacts of project activities on Communities must include an evaluation of the impacts by the affected Communities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Where Communities are predicted to experience or are experiencing decreased access to natural resources because of climate change, Project Proponent(s) must demonstrate that activities are likely to decrease Communities' dependence on these natural resources. For example, where freshwater access is affected by climate change, a project can improve water management for maximum efficiency or provide alternative agricultural methods or products that require less water. Project activities may also help Communities adapt to new planting and harvesting schedules to ensure maximum yields. Other climate change adaptation assistance can involve helping Communities prepare for 'extreme events' such as floods, droughts and mudslides.
<sup>85</sup> Where an actual range or phenology change in a species is identified, Project Proponent(s) must demonstrate

that the project activities will make a significant contribution to mitigating this impact of climate change. Examples include: creating suitable habitat in an area that is becoming climatically suitable for a species that is losing climatically suitable habitats in other parts of its range; and providing a native food source for a species that is suffering population declines because of timing mismatches between its food needs and food availability linked to climate change (such as spring emergence of vegetation or insects). Where a modeled range impact is demonstrated, project proponents should demonstrate that the project significantly contributes to improving species' ability to occupy a new range or creates habitat in areas to which the species is migrating.

## **COMMUNITY SECTION**

## CM1. Without-Project Community Scenario

### Concept

Original well-being<sup>86</sup> conditions for Communities and expected changes under the without-project land use scenario are described.

## Indicators

- Describe the Communities at the start of the project and significant community changes in the past, including well-being information, and any community characteristics.<sup>87</sup> Describe the social, economic and cultural diversity<sup>88</sup> within the Communities and the differences and interactions between the Community Groups.
- Evaluate whether the Project Zone includes any of the following High Conservation Values (HCVs)<sup>89</sup> related to community well-being<sup>90</sup> and describe the qualifying attributes for any identified HCVs:
  - a. Areas that provide critical ecosystem services;<sup>91</sup>
  - b. Areas that are fundamental for the livelihoods of Communities;<sup>92</sup> and
  - c. Areas that are critical for the traditional cultural identity of Communities.<sup>93</sup>

Identify the areas that need to be managed to maintain or enhance the identified HCVs.

 Describe the expected changes in the well-being conditions and other characteristics of Communities under the without-project land use scenario, including the impact of likely changes on all ecosystem services in the Project Zone identified as important to Communities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> 'Well-being' is defined as people's experience of the quality of their lives and may include environmental, social, economic, psychological, spiritual, and medical dimensions. The improvement of well-being may include providing opportunity, ensuring and enhancing security and empowerment (see the World Bank's attacking poverty framework adapted to REDD+ available here: <u>http://www.mdpi.com/1999-4907/4/2/296</u>).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Community characteristics may include shared language, mythology, history, culture, livelihood systems, traditional authority structures, institutions, practices, values, relationships with specific sites of historical, cultural or spiritual significance, relationships with natural resources, or the customary institutions and rules governing the use of resources and sites.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Including by wealth, gender, age, ethnicity etc.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> These high conservation value criteria are based on those defined by the High Conservation Value (HCV) Resource Network <u>http://hcvnetwork.org/</u>. Practical help is available for using HCVs in each region, including generic guidance documents (Toolkits) and Country Pages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup>Note that High Conservation Values that are more related to biodiversity are covered in B1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Such as hydrological services, erosion control, fire control.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> Such as for essential food, fuel, fodder, medicines, or building materials without readily available alternatives.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> Such as areas of cultural, ecological, economic or religious significance identified in collaboration with the communities.

## CM2. Net Positive Community Impacts

## Concept

The project generates net positive impacts on the well-being of Communities and the Community Groups within them over the project lifetime. The project maintains or enhances the High Conservation Values in the Project Zone that are of importance to the well-being of Communities.

## Indicators

- 1. Use appropriate methodologies<sup>94</sup> to assess the impacts<sup>95</sup>, including predicted and actual, direct and indirect benefits, costs and risks, on each of the identified Community Groups (identified in G1.5) resulting from project activities under the with-project scenario. The assessment of impacts must include changes in well-being due to project activities and an evaluation of the impacts by the affected Community Groups.<sup>96</sup> This assessment must be based on clearly defined and defendable assumptions about changes in well-being<sup>97</sup> of the Community Groups under the with-project scenario, including potential impacts of changes in all ecosystem services identified as important for the Communities (including water and soil resources), over the project lifetime.
- Describe measures needed and *taken* to mitigate any negative well-being impacts on Community Groups and for maintenance or enhancement of the High Conservation Value attributes (identified in CM1.2) consistent with the precautionary principle.<sup>98</sup>
- Demonstrate that the net well-being impacts of the project are positive for all identified Community Groups<sup>99</sup> compared with their anticipated well-being conditions under the withoutproject land use scenario (described in CM1).
- 4. *Demonstrate* that no High Conservation Values (identified in CM1.2) are negatively affected by the project.

<sup>96</sup> Includes types and magnitude of impacts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> The following manual is recommended for guidance on appropriate methodologies: Social and Biodiversity Impact Assessment Manual (Richards and Panfil, 2011). Available at <u>www.climate-standards.org</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> 'Impacts' includes benefits, costs, and risks, including those that are direct and indirect and including those related to social, cultural, environmental and economic aspects and to human rights and rights to lands territories and resources. Costs include those related to responsibilities and also opportunity costs. Note that the term 'benefits' refers to positive impacts and the phrase 'costs and risks' equates with negative impacts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> Restricting the evaluation to Well-being based on activities that comply with statutory laws or conform with customary rights.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> The 'precautionary principle' is defined in the Preamble to the *Convention on Biological Diversity* (1992): '[W]here there is a threat of significant reduction or loss of biological diversity, lack of full scientific certainty should not be used as a reason for postponing measures to avoid or minimize such a threat.'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> An exception may be made if a Community Group is not significantly affected by or participating in the project, in which case, net Well-being impacts must not be negative for that group.

### **CM3. Other Stakeholder Impacts**

#### Concept

Project activities at least 'do no harm' to the well-being of Other Stakeholders.<sup>100</sup>

- 1. Identify any potential positive and negative impacts that the project activities are likely to cause on the well-being of Other Stakeholders.
- 2. Describe the measures needed *and taken* to mitigate the negative well-being impacts on Other Stakeholders.
- 3. Demonstrate that the project activities do not result in net negative impacts on the well-being of Other Stakeholders.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Restricting the evaluation to Well-being based on activities that comply with statutory or conform with customary rights.

#### CM 4. Community Impact Monitoring

#### Concept

Community impact monitoring assesses changes in well-being resulting from the project activities for Community Groups and Other Stakeholders.

- Develop and implement a monitoring plan that identifies community variables<sup>101</sup> to be monitored, Communities, Community Groups and Other Stakeholders to be monitored, the types of measurements, the sampling methods, and the frequency of monitoring and reporting.<sup>102</sup> Monitoring variables must be directly linked to the project's objectives for Communities and Community Groups and to predicted outputs, outcomes and impacts identified in the project's causal model related to the well-being of Communities (described in G1.8). Monitoring must assess differentiated impacts, including and benefits, costs and risks, for each of the Community Groups and must include an evaluation by the affected Community Groups.<sup>103</sup>
- 2. Develop and implement a monitoring plan to assess the effectiveness of measures taken to maintain or enhance all identified High Conservation Values related to community well-being.
- 3. Disseminate the monitoring plan, and any results of monitoring undertaken in accordance with the monitoring plan, ensuring that they are made publicly available on the internet and summaries are communicated to the Communities and Other Stakeholders through appropriate means.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> Potential variables may include but are not limited to: income, employment generation, health, market access, schools, food security and education.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> The following manual is recommended for guidance on appropriate monitoring methodologies: Social and Biodiversity Impact Assessment Manual (Richards and Panfil, 2011). Available at <u>www.climate-standards.org</u>.
 <sup>103</sup> Evaluation by the affected Community Groups can be undertaken through a documented opportunity for feedback from Communities and their Community Groups as part of a participatory rural appraisal, community

meetings or some other process.

## **Optional Criterion**

# **GL2. Exceptional Community Benefits**

# Concept

The project is a Smallholder/Community-led and implemented on land that they own or manage, and/or is explicitly pro-poor in terms of targeting benefits to globally poorer communities.

The project delivers equitable well-being benefits to Smallholders/Community Members,<sup>104</sup> including short-term and long-term benefits and enhancement of security and empowerment of Smallholders/Community Members. Appropriate institutional and governance arrangements have been used to enable full and effective participation of Smallholders/Community Members in decision making, implementation and management of the project and in doing so has managed risks related to aggregating Smallholders/Community Members at scale.

Well-being benefits are shared equitably not only with the Smallholders/Community Members but also among the Smallholders/Community Members, ensuring that equitable benefits also flow to more marginalized and/or vulnerable households and individuals within them.

### Indicators

 a. Demonstrate that Smallholders/Community Members or Communities either own or have management rights, statutory or customary, individually or collectively, to land in the Project Area. The Smallholders/Community Members or Communities have rights to claim that their activities will or did generate or cause the project's climate, community and biodiversity benefits.

OR

b. Demonstrate that the Project Zone is in a low human development country OR in an administrative area of a medium or high human development country in which at least 50% of the households within the Communities are below the national poverty line.

- Demonstrate that the project generates short-term<sup>105</sup> and long-term net positive well-being benefits for Smallholders/ Community Members. Include indicators of well-being impacts on Smallholder/Community Members in the monitoring plan. The assessment of impacts must include changes in well-being due to project activities and an evaluation of the impacts by the affected Smallholders/Community Members.
- 3. Identify, through a participatory process, risks for the Smallholders/Community Members to participate in the project, including those related to tradeoffs with food security, land loss, loss of yields and short-term and long-term climate change adaptation. Explain how the project is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Smallholders/Community Members are defined as households within the Communities that are actively participating in the project.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Including significant benefits that start flowing to Smallholders/Community Members in a short enough time frame to provide incentives that outweigh their costs and risks of participation.

designed to avoid such tradeoffs and the measures taken to manage the identified risks. Include indicators of risks for Smallholders/Community Members in the monitoring plan.

- 4. Identify Community Groups that are marginalized and/or vulnerable.<sup>106</sup> Demonstrate that the project generates net positive impacts on the well-being of all identified marginalized and/or vulnerable Community Groups. Demonstrate that any barriers or risks that might prevent benefits going to marginalized and/or vulnerable Smallholder/Community Members have been identified and addressed. Demonstrate that measures are taken to identify any marginalized and/or vulnerable Smallholders, whose well-being may be negatively affected by the project, and that measures are taken to avoid, or when unavoidable to mitigate, any such impacts.
- 5. *Demonstrate* that the project generates net positive impacts on the well-being of women and that women participate in or influence decision making and include indicators of impacts on women in the monitoring plan.
- 6. Describe the design and implementation of a benefit sharing mechanism, demonstrating that Smallholders/Community Members have fully and effectively participated in defining the decision-making process and the distribution mechanism for benefit sharing; and demonstrating transparency, including on project funding and costs as well as on benefit distribution.
- 7. Explain how relevant and adequate information about predicted and actual benefits, costs and risks has been communicated to Smallholders/Community Members and provide evidence that the information is understood.
- 8. Describe the project's governance and implementation structures, and any relevant selfgovernance or other structures used for aggregation of Smallholders/Community members, and demonstrate that they enable full and effective participation of Smallholders/Community Members in project decision-making and implementation.
- 9. *Demonstrate* how the project is developing the capacity of Smallholders/Community Members, and relevant local organizations or institutions, to participate effectively and actively in project design, implementation and management.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> 'Marginalized' people or groups are those that have little or no influence over decision-making processes. Marginalization may be related to a range of factors including age, gender, ethnicity, socio-economic status, and religion. 'Vulnerable' people or groups are those who lack secure access to the assets on which secure livelihoods are built (socio-political, cultural, human, financial, natural and physical) and with high exposure to external stresses and shocks (including climate change). Therefore they have high sensitivity and low adaptive capacity to adjust in response to actual or expected changes. Forest dependency may be an important factor affecting vulnerability particularly where the project itself may change access to forest resources. In many situations marginalization exacerbates vulnerability, e.g. marginalization by gender.

#### **BIODIVERSITY SECTION**

### **B1. Biodiversity Without-project Scenario**

#### Concept

Original biodiversity conditions in the Project Zone and expected changes under the without-project land use scenario are described.

#### Indicators

- 1. Describe biodiversity within the Project Zone at the start of the project and threats to that biodiversity, using appropriate methodologies.
- Evaluate whether the Project Zone includes any of the following High Conservation Values (HCVs) related to biodiversity and describe the qualifying attributes for any identified HCVs:<sup>107</sup>
  - a. Globally, regionally or nationally significant concentrations of biodiversity values;
    - i. protected areas<sup>108</sup>
    - ii. threatened species<sup>109</sup>
    - iii. endemic species<sup>110</sup>
    - iv. areas that support significant concentrations of a species during any time in their lifecycle.<sup>111</sup>

http://www.iucn.org/about/union/commissions/wcpa/wcpa work/wcpa strategic/wcpa science/wcpa categorie s/index.cfm for definitions) as well as areas that have been proposed for protected area status by the relevant statutory body but have not yet been officially declared, and including areas protected under international conventions (e.g., Ramsar sites, World Heritage Sites, UNESCO Man-and-Biosphere Reserves, etc.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> These High Conservation Value criteria are based on those defined by the High Conservation Value (HCV) Resource Network <u>http://hcvnetwork.org/</u> where practical help is available for using HCVs in each region, including generic guidance documents (Toolkits) and Country Pages. Note that High Conservation Values that are more related to community well-being are covered in CM1.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> 'Protected areas' are defined as an area of land and/or sea especially dedicated to the protection and maintenance of biological diversity, and of natural and associated cultural resources, and managed through legal or other effective means equivalent to IUCN Protected Area Management Categories I-VI (see

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> Species that qualify for the IUCN Red List threat categories of Critically Endangered (CR), Endangered (EN) and Vulnerable (VU) (see <u>www.iucnredlist.org</u> and Glossary for more information), species classified by IUCN as Vulnerable (VU), Endangered (EN) and Critically Endangered (CR) at a global or regional level, or whose trade is regulated under international agreements (e.g. CITES), as well as nationally protected species. IUCN Red Listing remains incomplete and many threatened species have not yet been assessed by the IUCN Species Survival Commission. In some countries, especially those lacking national IUCN red lists or nationally protected species lists, expert consultation is needed to learn if any such species might be present.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Species for which the entire global range is restricted to the site, the region or the country (the level of endemicity must be defined).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Such as for migrations, feeding grounds, or breeding areas.

COMMUNITY

- B. Globally, regionally or nationally significant large landscape-level areas where viable populations of most if not all naturally occurring species exist in natural patterns of distribution and abundance;
- c. Threatened or rare ecosystems.<sup>112</sup>

Identify the areas that need to be managed to maintain or enhance the identified HCVs.

3. Describe how the without-project land use scenario would affect biodiversity conditions in the Project Zone.<sup>113</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> Includes ecosystems (intact or not) or associations of species that have always been rare, those which are now rare or greatly reduced, and those for which intact examples are very rare even if heavily disturbed or degraded. For threatened ecosystems, IUCN is coordinating the development of an Ecosystem Red List. This list will reflect extinction risks at local, regional and global levels, using the categories for threatened ecosystems which are already used for threatened species: Vulnerable, Endangered and Critically Endangered. Once operational, this will be an important resource for countries where little or no information exists on national ecosystem prioritization (see <a href="http://www.iucnredlistofecosystems.org/">http://www.iucnredlistofecosystems.org/</a>).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Such as in terms of habitat availability, landscape connectivity, or threatened species.

### **B2. Net Positive Biodiversity Impacts**

#### Concept

The project generates net positive impacts on biodiversity within the Project Zone over the project lifetime. The project maintains or enhances any High Conservation Values present in the Project Zone that are of importance in conserving biodiversity. Native species<sup>114</sup> are used unless otherwise justified and invasive species<sup>115</sup> and genetically modified organisms (GMOs)<sup>116</sup> are not used.

- 1. Use appropriate methodologies<sup>117</sup> to estimate changes in biodiversity, including assessment of predicted and actual, positive and negative, direct and indirect impacts, resulting from project activities under the with-project scenario in the Project Zone and over the project lifetime. This estimate must be based on clearly defined and defendable assumptions.
- 2. *Demonstrate* that the project's net impacts on biodiversity in the Project Zone are positive, compared with the biodiversity conditions under the without-project land use scenario (described in B1).
- 3. Describe measures needed and *taken* to mitigate negative impacts on biodiversity and any measures needed and *taken* for maintenance or enhancement of the High Conservation Value attributes (identified in B1.2) consistent with the precautionary principle.
- 4. *Demonstrate* that no High Conservation Values (identified in B1.2) are negatively affected by the project.
- 5. Identify all species used by the project and *show* that no known invasive species are introduced into any area affected by the project and that the population of any invasive species does not increase as a result of the project.
- 6. Describe possible adverse effects of non-native species<sup>118</sup> used by the project on the region's environment, including impacts on native species and disease introduction or facilitation. Justify any use of non-native species over native species.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> 'Native species' are defined as those that are part of the composition of a natural representative ecosystem of the area where the project site is located.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> 'Invasive species' are defined as non-native species that threaten ecosystems, habitats or species in the Project Zone as identified in the Global Invasive Species Database: <u>http://www.issg.org/database</u>, from scientific literature, and from local knowledge.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> 'Genetically modified organisms' are defined as any living organism that possesses a novel combination of genetic material obtained through the use of modern biotechnology and which is capable of transferring or replicating genetic material.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> The following manual is recommended for guidance on appropriate methodologies: Social and Biodiversity Impact Assessment Manual (Richards and Panfil, 2011). Available at https://s3.amazonaws.com/CCBA/SBIA Manual/SBIA Part 1.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> 'Non native species' are defined as species occurring outside their natural range, whether accidentally or intentionally introduced.

- 7. *Guarantee* that no GMOs are used to generate GHG emissions reductions or removals.
- 8. Describe the possible adverse effects of, and justify the use of, fertilizers, chemical pesticides, biological control agents and other inputs used for the project.
- 9. Describe the process for identifying, classifying and managing all waste products resulting from project activities.<sup>119</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> May include but not limited to: methods of collecting, storing, moving, treating, and disposing of animal, plant, food processing, municipal, and industrial wastes, development of products from waste materials, including biofuels, engineering and analysis of projected and existing waste disposal systems and pesticide, containers, recycling pre- and post-consumer wastes, improved methods for mitigating environmental impacts and biosecurity risks from, agricultural, forestry, municipal, and industrial wastes, etc. See <a href="http://www.nifa.usda.gov/business/pdfs/reeport">http://www.nifa.usda.gov/business/pdfs/reeport</a> project init grant class rev 4 4 13.pdf

### **B3.** Offsite Biodiversity Impacts

#### Concept

Negative impacts on biodiversity outside the Project Zone resulting from project activities are evaluated and mitigated.

- 1. Identify potential negative impacts on biodiversity that the project activities are likely to cause outside the Project Zone.
- 2. Describe the measures needed and *taken* to mitigate these negative impacts on biodiversity outside the Project Zone.
- 3. Evaluate unmitigated negative impacts on biodiversity outside the Project Zone and compare them with the project's biodiversity benefits within the Project Zone. Justify and demonstrate that the net effect of the project on biodiversity is positive.

### **B4. Biodiversity Impact Monitoring**

#### Concept

Biodiversity impact monitoring assesses the changes in biodiversity resulting from project activities within and outside the Project Zone.

- Develop and implement a monitoring plan that identifies biodiversity variables<sup>120</sup> to be monitored, the areas to be monitored, the sampling methods, and the frequency of monitoring and reporting.<sup>121</sup> Monitoring variables must be directly linked to the project's biodiversity objectives and to predicted activities, outcomes and impacts identified in the project's causal model related to biodiversity (described in G1.8).
- 2. Develop and implement a monitoring plan to assess the effectiveness of measures taken to maintain or enhance all identified High Conservation Values related to globally, regionally or nationally significant Biodiversity (identified in B1.2) present in the Project Zone.
- 3. Disseminate the monitoring plan and the results of monitoring, ensuring that they are made publicly available on the internet and summaries are communicated to the Communities and Other Stakeholders through appropriate means.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Potential variables may include but are not limited to: species abundance; population size, range, trends and diversity; habitat area, quality and diversity; landscape connectivity; and forest fragmentation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> The following manual is recommended for guidance on appropriate monitoring methodologies: Social and Biodiversity Impact Assessment Manual (Richards and Panfil, 2011). Available at <u>www.climate-standards.org</u>.

## **Optional Criterion**

### **GL3. Exceptional Biodiversity Benefits**

## Concept

Projects conserve biodiversity at sites of global significance for biodiversity conservation selected on the basis of the Key Biodiversity Area (KBA) framework of vulnerability and irreplaceability.<sup>122</sup>

Conserving biodiversity at these sites may contribute to meeting country commitments to the Aichi Targets under the Convention on Biological Diversity and with the priorities identified in a National Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan.

### Indicators

 Demonstrate that the Project Zone includes a site of high biodiversity conservation priority by meeting either the vulnerability or irreplaceability criteria defined below<sup>123</sup>, identifying the 'Trigger' species<sup>124</sup> that cause(s) the site to meet any of the following qualifying conditions and providing evidence that the qualifying conditions are met:

1.1 Vulnerability

Regular occurrence of a globally threatened species (according to the IUCN Red List) at the site:

- a. Critically Endangered (CR) and Endangered (EN) species presence of at least a single individual; or
- b. Vulnerable species (VU) presence of at least 30 individuals or 10 pairs.

OR

1.2 Irreplaceability

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> 'Key Biodiversity Areas' are sites of global significance for biodiversity conservation that satisfy criteria based on a framework of vulnerability and irreplaceability defined in terms of species and population threat levels as defined in 'Identification and Gap Analysis of Key Biodiversity Areas' (See Langhammer, P.F., Bakarr, M.I., Bennun, L.A., Brooks, T.M., Clay, R.P., Darwall, W., De Silva, N., Edgar, G.J., Eken, G., Fishpool, L.D.C., Fonseca, G.A.B. da, Foster, M.N., Knox, D.H., Matiku, P., Radford, E.A., Rodrigues, A.S.L., Salaman, P., Sechrest, W., and Tordoff, A.W. 2007. Identification and gap analysis of Key Biodiversity Areas: Targets for comprehensive protected area systems. Best Practice Protected Areas Guidelines Series No. 15. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland, <u>http://www.iucn.org/dbtwwpd/edocs/PAG-015.pdf</u>)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> Qualifying sites can be identified based on available information about the site or by referring to existing lists of Key Biodiversity Areas that have so far been identified at national, sub-national or regional level in over 200 countries. The Integrated Biodiversity Assessment Tool (IBAT) for Business provides a visualization and GIS download tool for protected areas and prioritization approaches, including Key Biodiversity Areas <u>https://www.ibatforbusiness.org/login</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> A Key Biodiversity Area 'trigger species' is any species that causes a site to meet the Key Biodiversity Area qualifying conditions. 'Identification and Gap Analysis of Key Biodiversity Areas' (Langhammer et al. 2007). IUCN. <u>https://cmsdata.iucn.org/downloads/pag\_015.pdf</u>.

A minimum proportion of a species' global population present at the site at any stage of the species' lifecycle according to the following thresholds:<sup>125</sup>

- a. Restricted-range species species with a global range less than 50,000 km2 and 5% of global population at the site; or
- b. Species with large but clumped distributions 5% of the global population at the site; or
- c. Globally significant congregations 1% of the global population seasonally at the site; or
- d. Globally significant source populations 1% of the global population at the site.
- 2. Describe recent population trends<sup>126</sup> of each of the Trigger species<sup>127</sup> in the Project Zone at the start of the project and describe the most likely changes under the without-project land use scenario.
- 3. Describe measures<sup>128</sup> needed and *taken* to maintain or enhance the population status of each Trigger species in the Project Zone, and to reduce the threats to them based on the causal model that identifies threats to Trigger species and activities to address them.
- 4. Include indicators of the population trend of each Trigger species and/or the threats to them in the monitoring plan and demonstrate the effectiveness of measures needed and taken to maintain or enhance the population status of Trigger species.<sup>129</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> While there is wide consensus on the need for a sub-criterion for bioregionally restricted assemblages, this sub-criterion has been excluded from the Standards until guidelines and thresholds have been agreed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> This may be achieved through collection of a small number of direct measures (such as trend in absolute population size) or through triangulation of a broader set of less direct but more easily measured indicators (linked to the causal model) such as relative abundance, site occupancy, intensity of key threats (off-take, mortality, habitat change, disturbance) and/or key demographic parameters like nest productivity. Where direct evidence is lacking, past trends can be determined from threat assessments, credible local reports etc. Projections of population trend should relate to the theory of change described in G1.7 and the threat assessments in B1.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> In cases where several trigger species occur, it is allowable to focus population trend (GL3.2), conservation measures (GL3.3) and monitoring (GL3.4) on at least three species that include (i) species for which populations at the site have the highest global significance, (ii) those facing the most acute threats at the site and (iii) those for which management will be beneficial to a broad range of other trigger species facing similar threats.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> Following good practice guidance for in-situ species management including active management measures and re-introduction, as appropriate, and consistent with any relevant existing species management plan.
<sup>129</sup>Population status or even presence at the site may be hard to establish for some species that are threatened, rare or cryptic, for example. Evidence that threats to the species are being addressed may be used to demonstrate that species population status is likely to be maintained or enhanced as a result of project activities.

### Glossary

- Adaptive Management Is a philosophy that accepts that management must proceed even without complete information. It views management not only as a way to achieve objectives, but also as a process for probing to learn more about the resource or system being managed. Learning is an inherent objective of adaptive management. Adaptive management is a process where policies and activities can adapt to future conditions to improve management success.
- **Additionality** –Additionality is the requirement that the project generates real benefits that would not otherwise have occurred or prevents harm that would have occurred in the absence of the project.
- **AFOLU** Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use.
- Approved methodological approach A methodology approved by GHG programs recognized by the CCBA. A list of GHG Programs recognized by the CCBA is published on the CCBA website (<u>www.climate-standards.org</u>). See also the Rules for the use of the Climate, Community & Biodiversity Standards.
- Auditor A recognized, qualified and independent auditing organization that evaluates whether a project has met each of the CCB criteria and any other requirements following the process for validation or verification against the CCB Standards defined in the Rules for the Use of the CCB Standards available at <a href="http://www.climate-standards.org/">http://www.climate-standards.org/</a>. The Auditor must be approved by the CCBA as defined in the Rules for the Use of the CCB Standards; a list of Approved Auditors can be found at <a href="http://www.climate-standards.org/ccb-standards/">http://www.climate-standards.org/</a>.
- **Biodiversity** The variability among living organisms from all sources including, inter alia, terrestrial, marine & other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes of which they are part; this includes diversity within species, between species and of ecosystems. Article 2. Use of terms. Definition of biological diversity. Convention on Biological Diversity. http://www.cbd.int/convention/convention.shtml.
- **Carbon Dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>)** 3.666 units of  $CO_2$  equal one unit of carbon (C).  $CO_2$  plays a critical role in creating and regulating the earth's climate (see Greenhouse Gas).
- Carbon Dioxide Equivalent (CO₂e) Is the universal unit of measurement used to indicate the global warming potential of each of the seven greenhouse gases. It is used to evaluate the impacts of releasing (or avoiding the release of) different greenhouse gases. For GWP's of relevant GHGs refer to relevant decisions of the CDM Executive Board or the Verified Carbon Standard.
- **Carbon Pools** A reservoir of carbon. A system that has the capacity to accumulate or release carbon. Carbon pools are measured in terms of mass (e.g., metric tons of carbon). The major carbon pools associated with forestry projects are: live biomass (including above and below ground components, i.e., roots), dead biomass, soil, and wood products.

**Carbon Stocks** – The quantity of carbon held within a pool at a specified time.

- **Carbon Sink** Any process, activity or mechanism that results in the net removal of greenhouse gases from the atmosphere.
- **Carbon Source** Opposite of carbon sink. A carbon pool is a net source of carbon to the atmosphere if less carbon is flowing into it than is flowing out of it.
- **CCB Standards public comment period** Is the process in which CCBA posts project documents that are under evaluation by an auditor for conformance with the CCB Standards on <u>www.climate-</u><u>standards.org</u> for at least 30 days with an invitation and link for submission of comments by members of the public to which the auditor must respond in the audit report.
- Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) Is a mechanism established by Article 12 of the Kyoto Protocol for project-based emission reduction activities in developing countries. The CDM is designed to meet two main objectives: to address the sustainable development needs of the host country, and to increase the opportunities available to Treaty Parties to meet their reduction commitments. Under the CDM, Annex I (industrialized) countries can accrue certified emission reduction units (CERs), which are tradable carbon 'credits', in return for financing carbon reduction project activities in non-Annex I (developing countries) that help further their sustainable development. <u>http://cdm.unfccc.int</u>
- **Climate Change Mitigation** The reduction of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions to achieve stabilization of GHG concentrations in the atmosphere and subsequently a cessation of further climate change.
- **Communities** Are all groups of people—including Indigenous Peoples, mobile peoples and other local communities—who derive income, livelihood or cultural values and other contributions to wellbeing from the Project Area at the start of the project and/or under the with-project scenario. In cases where numerous small Communities can be shown to have homogeneous patterns of social organization, political structure and livelihoods, these Communities may be identified and listed as a Community. In identification of Communities, it is permitted to consider significance of user populations and of their level of use such that distant or intermittent user groups who have very limited dependence on the site need not be defined as Communities.
- **Community Groups** Are defined as groups whose members derive similar income, livelihood and/or cultural values and other contributions to well-being from the Project Area and whose values are different from those of other groups; such as Indigenous Peoples, women, youth or other social, cultural and economic groups. The number of appropriate groups will depend on the size and complexity of the community. 'Indigenous Peoples' are defined as distinct social and cultural groups whose members identify themselves as belonging to an indigenous cultural group.
- **Corruption** The abuse of entrusted power for private gain.
- **Customary rights** 'Customary rights' to lands and resources refers to patterns of long-standing community land and resource usage in accordance with Indigenous Peoples' and local communities' customary laws, values, customs, and traditions, including seasonal or cyclical use, rather than formal legal title to land and resources issued by the State.

- **Criteria** (singular **Criterion**) Conditions that must be met to achieve the requirements of the CCB Standards. The CCB Standards are comprised of 20 discrete criteria, including 17 required criteria and three optional Gold Level criteria.
- **Defensible methodological approach** A 'Defensible' methodological approach follows good practice guidance that includes procedures for delineating the conditions under which the methodological approach can be applied: defining the project area; estimating any projected rates of land cover change in the without-project and with-project scenarios; conservatively estimating without project GHG emissions and removals; monitoring GHG emissions over the project lifetime; defining types of leakage potential caused by project activities; and conservatively estimating expected leakage emissions under the with-project scenario. It shall also observe principles of relevance, completeness, consistency, transparency and conservativeness for land-based carbon accounting; such as the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's 2006 Guidelines for National GHG Inventories for Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use (IPCC 2006 GL for AFOLU) and the AFOLU Requirements of the Verified Carbon Standard.
- Ecosystem A dynamic complex of plant, animal and micro-organism communities and their non-living environment interacting as a functional unit. Article 2. Use of terms. Convention on Biological Diversity. <u>http://www.cbd.int/convention/articles.shtml?a=cbd-02</u>.
- **Effective consultation:** Effective consultation requires Project Proponents to inform and engage broadly with the Communities and Other Stakeholders using socially and culturally appropriate methods to enable meaningful influence on the subject of consultation. Consultations must be gender and intergenerationally sensitive with special attention to vulnerable and/or marginalized people and must be conducted at mutually agreed locations and through representatives who are designated by the groups themselves in accordance with their own procedures. Different approaches may be appropriate for different Community Groups or Other Stakeholders.
- **Endemic species** Species for which the entire global range is restricted to the site, the region or the country (the level of endemicity must be defined).
- **Feedback and Grievance Redress Procedure** A process for receiving, hearing, responding to and attempting to resolve Grievances within a reasonable time period.
- **Free, Prior and Informed Consent** 'free' means no coercion, intimidation, manipulation. threat and bribery; 'prior' means sufficiently in advance of any authorization or commencement of activities and respecting the time requirements of their decision-making processes; 'informed' means that information is provided that covers (at least) the following aspects a. the nature, size, pace, reversibility and scope of any proposed project or activity; b. the reason/s or purpose of the project and/or activity; c. the duration of the above; d. the locality of areas that will be affected; e. a preliminary assessment of the likely economic, social, cultural and environmental impact, including potential risks and fair and equitable benefit sharing in a context that respects the precautionary principle; f. personnel likely to be involved in the execution of the proposed project (including Indigenous Peoples, private sector staff, research institutions, government employees, and others); and g. procedures that the project may entail; and 'consent' means that there is the option of withholding consent and that the parties have reasonably understood it. Collective rights holders must be able to participate through their own freely chosen representatives and customary

or other institutions following a transparent process for obtaining their free, prior and informed consent that they have defined.

- **Full and effective participation** Full and effective participation means meaningful influence of all relevant rights holder and stakeholder groups who want to be involved throughout the process, and includes access to information, consultation, participation in decision-making and implementation and free, prior and informed consent.
- **GMO** Genetically Modified Organism. GMO's are defined as any living organism that possesses a novel combination of genetic material obtained through the use of modern biotechnology and which is capable of transferring or replicating genetic material.
- **Greenhouse Gases (GHG)** Greenhouse gases are gaseous components of the atmosphere that trap infrared heat and contribute to the Earth's greenhouse effect. In addition to carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), prominent GHGs related to forests include methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) and nitrous oxides (N<sub>2</sub>O).
- **Grievances** Disputes with Communities and Other Stakeholders that may arise during project planning, implementation and evaluation with respect but not limited to, Free, Prior and Informed Consent, rights to lands, territories and resources, benefit sharing, and participation.
- **High Conservation Values** There are six main High Conservation Values, based on the definition originally developed by the Forest Stewardship Council for certification of forest ecosystems, but now increasingly expanded to apply to assessments of other ecosystems <u>http://hcvnetwork.org/</u>.
  - 1. Globally, regionally or nationally significant concentrations of biodiversity values:
    - a. protected areas
    - b. threatened species
    - c. endemic species
    - d. areas that support significant concentrations of a species during any time in their lifecycle (e.g. migrations, feeding grounds, breeding areas);
  - 2. Globally, regionally or nationally significant large landscape-level areas where viable populations of most if not all naturally occurring species exist in natural patterns of distribution and abundance;
  - 3. Threatened or rare ecosystems;
  - 4. Areas that provide critical ecosystem services (e.g., hydrological services, erosion control, fire control);
  - 5. Areas that are fundamental for meeting the basic needs of local communities (e.g., for essential food, fuel, fodder, medicines or building materials without readily available alternatives); and
  - 6. Areas that are critical for the traditional cultural identity of local communities (areas of cultural, ecological, economic or religious significance identified in collaboration with the local communities).

**Indicators** – Quantitative or qualitative parameters that allow the assessment of whether associated criteria are being met. The CCB Standards include indicators under each criterion that independent Auditors shall use to determine whether the project in question satisfies that particular criterion.

**Indigenous Peoples** – The term 'Indigenous Peoples' is used in a generic sense to refer to a distinct, vulnerable social and cultural group possessing the following characteristics in varying degrees:

- a) self identification as members of a distinct indigenous cultural group and recognition of this identity by others;
- b) collective attachment to geographically distinct habitats or ancestral territories in the project area and to the natural resources in these habitats and territories;
- c) customary cultural, economic, social, or political institutions that are separate from those of the dominant society or culture; and
- d) an indigenous language, often different from the official language of the country or the region.

The World Bank Operational Manual, OP 4.10, July 2005, Article 4.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) – Established in 1988 as a special body by the UN Environment Programme and the World Meteorological Organization to provide assessments to policymakers of the results of ongoing climate change research. The IPCC is responsible for providing the scientific and technical foundation for the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), primarily through the publication of periodic assessment reports (see First, Second, Third and Fourth Assessment Reports). <u>http://www.ipcc.ch/</u>

- **Invasive Species** 'Invasive species' are defined as non-native species that threaten ecosystems, habitats or species in the project zone as identified in the Global Invasive Species Database <u>http://www.issg.org/database</u>, from scientific literature, and from local knowledge.
- IPCC 2006 GL for AFOLU The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's 2006 Guidelines for National GHG Inventories for Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use Volume 4 Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use. <u>http://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/2006gl/vol4.html</u>
- **Key Biodiversity Areas** sites of global significance for biodiversity conservation that satisfy criteria based on a framework of vulnerability and irreplaceability defined in terms of species and population threat levels. <u>www.iucn.org/dbtw-wpd/edocs/PAG-015.pdf</u>

#### Vulnerability

- Regular occurrence of a globally threatened species (according to the IUCN Red List) at the site: a) Critically Endangered (CR) and Endangered (EN) species – presence of at least a single individual; or
  - b) Vulnerable species (VU) presence of at least 30 individuals or 10 pairs.

#### Irreplaceability

A minimum proportion of a species' global population at any stage of the species' lifecycle at the site. These thresholds vary based on the following sub-criteria:

a) Restricted-range species - species with a global range less than 50,000 km and 5% of global population at the site; or

b) Species with large but clumped distributions - 5% of global population at the site; or

c) Globally significant congregations -1% of global population seasonally at the site; or

d) Globally significant source populations -1% of global population at the site.

While there is wide consensus on the need for a sub-criterion for bioregionally restricted assemblages, this sub-criterion has been excluded from the Standards until guidelines and thresholds have been agreed.

- Kyoto Protocol to the UNFCCC Establishes legally binding commitments for Annex I ('developed') countries to collectively reduce GHG emissions. During the first commitment period, 37 industrialized countries and the European Community committed to reduce GHG emissions to an average of five percent against 1990 levels. During the second commitment period, Parties committed to reduce GHG emissions by at least 18 percent below 1990 levels in the eight-year period from 2013 to 2020; however, the composition of Parties in the second commitment period is different from the first. The Kyoto Protocol includes a set of mechanisms in addition to domestic mitigation —such as International Emissions Trading, Joint Implementation, and the Clean Development Mechanism—that allow countries to achieve their commitments.
- Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry (LULUCF) The Kyoto Protocol rubric for land-based activities that have the potential to impact carbon stocks and emissions.
- Leakage Any increase in emissions of GHGs outside the Project Area as a result of project activities.
- **Local laws** Local laws include all norms given by organisms of government whose jurisdiction is less than the national level, such as departmental, municipal and customary norms.
- **Marginalized people or groups** –Those people or groups that have little or no influence over decisionmaking processes. Marginalization may be related to a range of factors including gender, ethnicity, socio-economic status, and religion.
- **Native** Native species are considered those that are part of the composition of a natural representative ecosystem of the area where the project site is located.
- **Non-native** Species occurring outside their natural range, whether accidentally or intentionally introduced.
- **Other Stakeholders** All groups other than Communities who can potentially affect or be affected by the project activities and who may live within or outside the Project Zone.
- **Permanence** The longevity of a carbon pool and the stability of its stocks, given the management and disturbance environment in which it occurs. A feature of land-based carbon projects is the possibility of a reversal of carbon benefits from either natural disturbances (e.g., fires, disease, pests, and unusual weather events), or from the lack of reliable guarantees that the original land use activities will not return after the project concludes. Strategies have been identified that mitigate potential reversals such as the non-permanence risk analysis and buffer approach adopted by the Verified Carbon Standard or the establishment of contingency carbon credits, insurance, conservation easements and mixed portfolios of projects.
- **Precautionary principle** Defined in the Preamble to the Convention on Biological Diversity (1992): '[W]here there is a threat of significant reduction or loss of biological diversity, lack of full scientific

certainty should not be used as a reason for postponing measures to avoid or minimize such a threat.'

- Programmatic approach Allows the expansion of project activities that aim to generate net climate benefits to new land areas subsequent to project validation subject to meeting established eligibility criteria. Conformance with the standards is assessed for new activities during the next validation or verification of the project against the CCB Standards (see Rules for the Use of the CCB Standards available at www.climate-standards.org).
- **Project** A set of actions or activities applied to a defined geographical area for specific purposes.
- Project Area The land area in which project activities aim to demonstrate net climate benefits.
- **Project GHG accounting period** –The time period over which changes in GHG emissions reductions and/or removals resulting from project activities are monitored for use as offsets.
- Project lifetime The time period over which project activities are implemented.
- **Project start date** The start of implementation of activities that will directly cause the project's expected climate community or biodiversity benefits.
- **Project Zone** –The area encompassing the Project Area in which project activities that directly affect land and associated resources, including activities such as those related to provision of alternative livelihoods and community development, are implemented. If using a programmatic approach, the Project Zone also includes all potential Project Areas (i.e. all potential new land areas in which project activities that aim to generate net climate benefits may be implemented in the future after the initial validation).
- **Project Proponent** The individual or organization that has overall control and responsibility for the project, or an individual or organization that together with others, each of which is also a project proponent, has overall control or responsibility for the project.
- **Property Rights and Property Rights Holders** 'Property Rights' are defined as statutory and customary tenure/use/access/management rights to lands, territories and resources and 'Property Rights Holders' are the entities that have individual or collective Property Rights.
- Protected Area An area of land and/or sea especially dedicated to the protection and maintenance of biological diversity, and of natural and associated cultural resources, and managed through legal or other effective means equivalent to IUCN Protected Area Management Categories I-VI (see <a href="http://www.iucn.org/about/union/commissions/wcpa/wcpa\_work/wcpa\_strategic/wcpa\_science/wcpa\_categories/index.cfm">http://www.iucn.org/about/union/commissions/wcpa/wcpa\_work/wcpa\_strategic/wcpa\_science/wcpa\_categories/index.cfm</a> for definitions) as well as areas that have been proposed for protected area status by the relevant statutory body but have not yet been officially declared, and including areas protected under international conventions (e.g., Ramsar sites, World Heritage Sites, UNESCO Man-and-Biosphere Reserves, etc.).
- **REDD** Reduced Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation

- **Reforestation** Is the direct human-induced conversion of non-forested land to forested land through planting, seeding and/or the human-induced promotion of natural seed sources, on land that was forested but that has been converted to non-forested land. According to the language of the Kyoto Protocol, for the first commitment period (2008-2012), reforestation activities are limited to reforestation occurring on lands that did not contain forest at the start of 1990.
- **Scalability limit** This is the scale beyond which, if new project activities are added, the project may not generate net positive climate, community or biodiversity benefits, such as capacity limits, economic and managerial constraints, and thresholds for project expansion beyond which there may be negative impacts on communities and/or biodiversity.
- **Sequestration** The process of increasing the carbon content of a carbon pool other than the atmosphere. There are various opportunities to remove atmospheric CO2, either through biological processes (e.g. the growth of plants and trees), or geological processes (e.g., storage of CO2 in underground reservoirs).
- **Threatened species** The term 'threatened' is used to describe species at risk of extinction, specifically those falling into IUCN's threat categories of Critically Endangered (CR), Endangered (EN) and Vulnerable (VU). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species is the most comprehensive global standard on the status and distribution of globally threatened species. Individual species are assigned threat categories by a network of specialist groups which convene workshops to compile and review the best available information on species. The categorization of species is based on a set of explicit quantitative criteria and standards which are subject to review and continuous appraisal. Many national and local governments have developed complementary listings of threatened species, many of which contribute towards or are informed by the IUCN Red List. These are often available in national or regional reports, legislation or related policies. Where species have not been evaluated by IUCN Red List or national lists, the criteria for global (IUCN, 2001) or regional (IUCN, 2003) assessments could be used to assign a threat category to them. <a href="http://www.iucnredlist.org">http://www.iucnredlist.org</a>. Additional national or regional listings should also be used where these may differ from the IUCN Red List.
- Threatened or rare ecosystems Includes ecosystems (intact or not) or associations of species that have always been rare, those which are now rare or greatly reduced, and those for which intact examples are very rare even if heavily disturbed or degraded. IUCN is coordinating the development of an Ecosystem Red List. This list will reflect extinction risks at local, regional and global levels, using the categories for threatened ecosystems which are already used for threatened species: Vulnerable, Endangered and Critically Endangered. Once operational, this will be an important resource for countries where little or no information exists on national ecosystem prioritization (see <a href="http://www.iucnredlistofecosystems.org/">http://www.iucnredlistofecosystems.org/</a>).
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) The UNFCCC, along with the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), were two agreements to emerge from the 1992 U.N. Conference on Environment and Development (UNCED) held in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. The Kyoto Protocol emerged out of the UNFCCC and sets specific timelines and timetables for reducing industrialized nations' GHG emissions and allows some international trading in carbon credits. http://unfccc.int

- Verified Carbon Standard (VCS) The Climate Group, the International Emissions Trading Association, the World Economic Forum and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development developed the Verified Carbon Standard to provide a robust, global standard and program for approval of credible GHG offsets. <u>http://www.v-c-s.org</u>
- Vulnerable people or groups Those people or groups with high exposure to external stresses and shocks (including climate change); and with high sensitivity and low adaptive capacity to adjust in response to actual or expected changes due to their lack of secure access to the assets on which secure livelihoods are built (socio-political, cultural, human, financial, natural and physical). Forest dependency may be an important factor affecting vulnerability particularly where the project itself may change access to forest resources. In many situations marginalization exacerbates vulnerability, e.g. marginalization by gender.
- **Well-being** People's experience of the quality of their lives and may include social, economic, psychological, spiritual, and medical dimensions. The improvement of well-being may include providing opportunity, ensuring and enhancing security and empowerment (see the World Bank's attacking poverty framework adapted to REDD+ available here: <u>http://www.mdpi.com/1999-4907/4/2/296</u>).
- **Workers** Workers are defined as people directly working on project activities in return for compensation (financial or otherwise), including employees, contracted workers, sub-contracted workers and community members that are paid to carry out project-related work.